Public Document Pack

City Council

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of City Council (Extraordinary)

at the Council Chamber, Council House on Thursday, 7 December 2023 at 6.00pm to
transact the following business

Agenda Pages
1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Interests

3 Consent to the East Midlands Combined County Authority 3-58

Regulations 2023
Report of the Leader of the Council

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact
a Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting.

Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public. Any
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the Council’s
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to
notify a Governance Officer shown above in advance.

MU

Dated: 29 November 2023
Director for Legal and Governance

To: All Councillors of Nottingham City Council


http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

City Council (Extraordinary) - 7 December 2023
Report of the Leader of the Council

Corporate Director/ Director:
Sajeeda Rose, Corporate Director for Growth and City Development

Report Author and Contact Details:
James Schrodel, Policy and Performance Manager
james.schrodel@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Title: Consent to the East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023

Does the report form part of the Budget or Policy Framework?

[ JYes [X]INo

Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication?
No

Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome:
Green, Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working

Carbon Neutral by 2028

Safer Nottingham

Child-Friendly Nottingham

Living Well in our Communities
Keeping Nottingham Moving

Improve the City Centre

Better Housing

Serving People Well

e [

1. Summary

1.1 To seek Full Council agreement to the creation of the East Midlands Combined
County Authority, with the Council as a constituent member.

1.2 To seek Full Council consent to the making of the “The East Midlands Combined
County Authority Regulations 2023” (Regulations), which Regulations will establish
the East Midlands Combined County Authority (EMCCA).

1.3 To note the holding of the inaugural mayoral election for the EMCCA on 2 May 2024,
subject to the passage of relevant secondary elections legislation.

1.4 To seek approvals relating to the appointment of the Combined County Authority
Returning Officer (CCARO).

2. Recommendations
That Council:
2.1 agrees to the creation of the East Midlands Combined County Authority with the

Council as a constituent member
Page 3


mailto:james.schrodel@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

5.1

5.2

consents to the making of the East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations
2023 as required by section 46(1)(d) of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023

delegates authority to the Chief Executive to approve any technical amendments to
the East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023, which the Chief
Executives of the other three Councils also agree to, on behalf of Nottingham City
Council. This delegation is to be exercised in consultation with the Leader of the
Council; and,

approves the appointment of Melbourne Barrett, Returning Officer of Nottingham City
Council as the first combined county authority returning officer for the proposed East
Midlands Combined County Authority, subject to the passing of the amendments to
article 6A(1) of the Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017 as applied
by article 12 of the Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017
(Amendment) Regulations 2023.

Reasons for recommendations

The creation of a new mayoral combined county authority for the East Midlands
would unlock the benefits of the agreed East Midlands devolution deal including a
range of new powers and funding as set out in this report. Constituent councils are
required to consent to the making of the Regulations before Government can
progress the legislation any further.

A delegation is sought to enable any necessary technical amendments to be made to
the Regulations and avoid any delay in them being laid.

The Constituent Councils need to make appropriate preparations for the Mayoral
election on 2 May 2024 and appoint the Combined County Authority Returning
Officer (CCARO).

Other options considered in making recommendations

Not to consent to the making of the East Midlands Combined County Authority
Regulations 2023. This is not recommended as the process would end, the East
Midlands Combined County Authority could not be established, and no powers or
funding would be devolved. In order to allow for the maximum amount of devolved
powers and funding (a “Level 3” deal), the Government’s policy requires that a
Mayoral Combined County Authority must be established in the area.

Consideration of Risk

The creation of the EMCCA is dependent on the laying and passage of the
Regulations, passage of which is not subject to the control of the Constituent
Councils. The Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017 (Amendment)
Regulations 2023 (the Elections Regulations) are proposed to be laid and come into
force prior to the coming into force of the Regulations. A delay in these Regulations
coming into force during February/March 2024 could prevent the EMCCA coming into
existence in February/March and prevent the holding of the Mayoral election on 2
May 2024. Holding a Mayoral election at another time would mean increased costs
for the Constituent Councils/EMCCA.

For the EMCCA to be established, all four Constituent Councils must consent to the
making of the Regulations at each Fup&guncil. Should one or more of the



5.3

5.4

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Constituent Councils not consent, the process would end, the Combined County
Authority could not be established, and no powers or funding would be devolved.
Each Constituent Council will weigh this decision and come to its own formal
conclusion. Senior officers and lead Members have worked closely with their
counterparts from the other Constituent Councils on the development of the
Devolution Deal and the plans for the EMCCA. That process has included the
drafting of this report to ensure parity in decision-making.

If the EMCCA does not come into existence as planned, there may either be a delay,
a reduction or a prevention of the benefits that devolution to the area would bring. To
mitigate this, and subject to the Constituent Councils’ consent to the Regulations, the
current transitional phase will move into an explicit phase of operating as a Shadow
Authority to support a smooth transition to the fully established EMCCA. The Shadow
Authority will oversee the planning and implementation of establishing the EMCCA. It
will continue to operate as currently: collaboratively from within the Constituent
Councils and in an advisory capacity until the EMCCA can be formally established in
early 2024.

Potential financial risks are set out in the “Financial Comments” section of this report.
Background (including outcomes of consultation)

Following the Government’s publication of the Levelling Up White Paper in February
2022, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire, Derby, and Derbyshire agreed to cooperate at
pace on the creation of a new devolution deal. This would include the areas covered
by Nottinghamshire County Council, Derbyshire County Council, Derby City Council
and Nottingham City Council (the ‘Constituent Councils’), delivered through the
establishment of a Mayoral Combined County Authority (the East Midlands
Combined County Authority, EMCCA).

Securing a devolution deal has been a long-standing ambition for leaders in the area,
in order to address the lasting impact caused by decades of under-funding when
compared to other areas, improve living standards and deliver better opportunities
and outcomes for residents, businesses and communities. Alongside this, the
establishment of the EMCCA will bring the governance that currently sits at national
level down to the CCA area, so that decision-making is much closer to communities
and businesses. Further detail about the lack of parity in investment in the East
Midlands region is set out in the Proposal here.

As a result of joint collaboration, a devolution deal was agreed between the four
Constituent Councils and the Government, on 30 August 2022. The deal envisaged a
significant uplift in the powers and funding available to Nottingham, Nottinghamshire,
Derby, and Derbyshire, and an unleashing of the area’s full economic potential.

The vision outlined in the deal, and subsequently published in the Proposal for
creation of the EMCCA, is for the 2.2 million people who live and work in the area to
enjoy better health, greater prosperity, and an increased sense of wellbeing, through
the opportunities available to them within an inclusive and competitive CCA Area, at
the heart of the country. Alongside this, the shared objectives of the Constituent
Councils are:

a. Boosting productivity, pay, jobs and living standards
b. Spreading opportunities and improving public services
c. Restoring a sense of community, Ipeggpgde and belonging


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.eastmidlandsdevolution.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2023%2F11%2FFinal-East-Midlands-CCA-Proposal-for-Submission-to-Government.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Cjudith.ryan%40nottscc.gov.uk%7C8fcf2b3270ee4c87d86f08dbef633291%7C6e5a37bba9614e4fbaae2798a2245f30%7C0%7C0%7C638366982014225993%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=VxcNVHCdeBK6IphGIxLzplJzLB%2FvuwAUWKyx7a8TWB0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.eastmidlandsdevolution.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2023%2F11%2FFinal-East-Midlands-CCA-Proposal-for-Submission-to-Government.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Cjudith.ryan%40nottscc.gov.uk%7C8fcf2b3270ee4c87d86f08dbef633291%7C6e5a37bba9614e4fbaae2798a2245f30%7C0%7C0%7C638366982014225993%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=VxcNVHCdeBK6IphGIxLzplJzLB%2FvuwAUWKyx7a8TWB0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.eastmidlandsdevolution.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2023%2F11%2FFinal-East-Midlands-CCA-Proposal-for-Submission-to-Government.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Cjudith.ryan%40nottscc.gov.uk%7C8fcf2b3270ee4c87d86f08dbef633291%7C6e5a37bba9614e4fbaae2798a2245f30%7C0%7C0%7C638366982014225993%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=VxcNVHCdeBK6IphGIxLzplJzLB%2FvuwAUWKyx7a8TWB0%3D&reserved=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-devolution-deal

d. Empowering local leaders and communities.

Statutory Consultation

6.5

6.6

6.7

Following approval from each Constituent Council in November 2022, a statutory
consultation was conducted on the draft Proposal to establish the EMCCA. The
Constituent Councils jointly undertook this statutory consultation, which ran from 14
November 2022 to 9 January 2023. Overall, a total of 4,869 people took part in the
consultation, which was open to residents, businesses, community and voluntary
groups, as well as other organisations in the region.

Following consideration of the consultation responses, the Constituent Councils
approved a final version of the Proposal in March 2023 for submission to the
Secretary of State and delegated the authority to their respective Chief Executive to
submit the Proposal, jointly and in consultation with each other once the Levelling Up
and Regeneration Bill received Royal Assent. Following that, some minor
typographical amendments were made by the respective Councils’ Chief Executive
under delegated powers. The Proposal was formally submitted to the Secretary of
State on 1 November 2023 following the coming into force of the relevant provisions
of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023 (LURA). The Secretary of State has
now confirmed that the requisite statutory tests for the establishment of the East
Midlands Combined County Authority have been met and provided a draft of the
Regulations for consideration by the Constituent Councils.

Further details on the consultation results and the East Midlands CCA Proposal can
be found in the 23 March 2023 report to Full Council and its accompanying
appendices here.

Benefits to be realised

6.8

6.9

Progressing with the establishment of the EMCCA is a landmark, once-in-a-
generation opportunity to secure more powers and funding that will be used to build
on our strengths as a region, by boosting economic growth, creating new local jobs,
more provision for training and skills tailored for our labour market, better public
transport, new investment in housing, and action to protect the environment.

This is an historic opportunity, following years of under-investment compared to other
English regions. Devolution will bring more money into the region, resulting in a
stronger local economy and better services for our residents.

6.10 The investment package for the deal is worth more than £4 billion, including the

£1.14 billion investment fund and a new City Region Sustainable Transport
Settlement of £1.5 billion.

6.11 Figure 1 provides an indication of the scale of funding committed, or indicated to flow

through the EMCCA, in its first few years. There will be a significant increase in
funding in the early years across different domains.

Page 6


https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=9960&Ver=4

400

350

300
250
200
n

- -

Indicative Invesmtment (£m)

50

I
0 —
Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

M Capacity funds ™ Investment Fund ® Skills ™ Housing M Net Zero M Transport B New Transport

Figure 1. Indicative investment into EMCCA

6.12 Devolution will create the first ever Combined County Authority, with Constituent
Council membership of the upper-tier local authorities in the region, provided for in
the LURA. The East Midlands will pioneer this type of governance, with other areas in
the region to follow, including partners in the proposed Greater Lincolnshire deal,
recently announced in the Chancellor's Autumn Statement.

6.13 The inaugural mayoral election is planned for 2 May 2024. A new Mayor, working
with an electoral mandate from 1.6m people across the region eligible to vote, will
give the region a bigger voice, more influence and a higher profile to make a strong
case to the Government for more investment in the region.

6.14 Creating the first ever directly-elected mayor of the East Midlands will provide a
platform to champion the interests of the region nationally and internationally, deliver
on local priorities and provide greater local accountability and decision-making
power, working in partnership with the EMCCA and its Constituent Councils, and
more widely with other public service providers, including District and Borough
Councils.

6.15 The Mayor and the EMCCA will be focused on the strategic issues which affect our
whole region — including transport, net-zero and housing — and will use the extra
money to improve residents’ lives. They will champion major infrastructure projects in
the region, lobbying the government to ensure promises are kept from a position of
national prominence.

6.16 A Mayoral Combined County Authority also provides the chance to take advantage of
strategic opportunities, such as the East Midlands Freeport, the East Midlands
DevCo and the East Midlands Investment Zone. It also provides additional
opportunities to tackle persistent and systemic deprivation, which drives significant
inequalities in some parts of the region, and to raise levels of social mobility, for
which the East Midlands is the poor%sé{d%egorming region in the country.


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greater-lincolnshire-devolution-deal-2023

6.17 The 2022 deal is also just the starting point. The true benefits and economic value of
devolution are still to come, through potential further settlements and investment. The
region has already seen the significant commitment of £1.5 billion of new investment
into local transport announced by the Government in October 2023, for example. This
is early evidence of another benefit of devolution, which is, that it gives the region the
voice it deserves and places it in the national spotlight.

6.18 The Proposal sets out longer term aspirations to seek further powers from
Westminster, placing more decisions at local level, as devolution has done with other
areas like the West Midlands and Greater Manchester. The Autumn Statement 2023
confirmed that the proposed EMCCA will be in consideration for deepening the
current devolution deal in the future once the Mayor is in place. This could result in
even more new powers and funding for the region in addition to the current deal in
areas like skills, transport and housing, bringing EMCCA closer to the ‘trailblazer’
deals recently awarded to Greater Manchester and the West Midlands. Alongside
this, further opportunities for public service reform at a local level that would help
councils and their partners deliver the best possible services for local residents and
businesses will be explored.

What we’ve achieved so far

6.19 Even prior to the coming into force of the LURA; millions of pounds in funding, made
possible because of plans for devolution in the East Midlands, has already been
agreed and is to be spent on improving housing, transport and the skills of local
people. Some of the initiatives that are already underway or completed, include but
are not limited to:

a. £2m for the purchase of properties in Nottingham City and Derby City to address
homelessness by reducing the use of bed and breakfast accommodation.
Properties have been purchased and some let, and to date £1.624m has been
spent.

b. £9.92m for Retrofit across the whole area to deliver domestic energy efficiency
and low carbon retrofit activities. Grant offer letters have been issued to each
council and the first payment of £1.984m has been released.

c. £1.22m for more affordable housing in Derby, where there is currently a
shortage, to provide 15 extra social units to be let at an affordable rent. It will
mean less reliance on temporary bed and breakfast placements and shorter
waiting times for longer-term accommodation. The full grant allocation will be
used to purchase 5 houses.

d. £1.2m for new gigabit broadband for Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire, Derby and
Nottingham. It will mean that an extra 118 rural public sector schools and
libraries will be connected to gigabit broadband. Work at the first sites is
expected to start imminently.

e. £750,000 for a new cycling and walking route in Derbyshire — a 1% mile link
connecting Markham Vale to the existing cycle route in Staveley. Work on the
cycling lane has commenced, with a spend to date of £386k.

f. £1.5m for the new roundabout on the A6 at Fairfield in Buxton, Derbyshire,
that has provided access to sites for 461 new homes, including 30% affordable
homes. This work has been completed, with the funding which has just been
approved going towards the cost.

g. £1.5m for a new growth through green skills. The investment will enable the
creation of a new £5.4m flagship skills centre and low carbon demonstrator in
the region, to be operated by West Nottinghamshire College, as well as two
electric minibuses for getting studen,tsa@a@d from the site, to support the growth


https://www.eastmidlandsdevolution.co.uk/uncategorized/18m-of-funding-for-local-transport-housing-and-skills-programmes-as-part-of-devolution-plans/
https://www.eastmidlandsdevolution.co.uk/uncategorized/18m-of-funding-for-local-transport-housing-and-skills-programmes-as-part-of-devolution-plans/

of a future low carbon economy as we work towards net zero. £981k has been
spent to date, which includes the purchase of electric minibuses and IT
Equipment.

Proposed Next Steps

6.20

6.21

6.22

Appended to the Report is a draft of the proposed East Midlands Combined County
Authority Regulations 2023 (Appendix 1). These draft Regulations represent the near
final drafting of the proposed Regulations to establish the EMCCA and provide it with
its necessary powers.

If the Council, and the other three Constituent Councils, consent to the making of the
Regulations the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)
have confirmed that they intend to lay the Regulations prior to the Christmas recess.
If passed, this will mean that the Regulations are expected to come into force in
approximately February/March 2024. Once the Regulations come into force, the
EMCCA will immmediately come into existence. It is proposed that the first elections
for Mayor of the CCA will take place on 2 May 2024 (the same date as the Police and
Crime Commissioner elections taking place across the CCA area), with notice of
election being required to be published by no later than 26 March 2024.

As part of the parliamentary process, in parallel to the consents sought from the
Constituent Councils in this report, the Regulations are being considered by
parliament’s Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments (JCSI). Their role is to focus
on the technical quality of the draft Regulations as opposed to the policy content, and
any amendments at this point would be those required to ensure the Regulations are
well drafted. The JCSI process may therefore lead to technical amendments being
made to the Regulations. These will be non-negotiable.

6.23 To facilitate any technical amendments to the draft Regulations, following the consent

of each constituent council, it is proposed that authority is delegated to the Chief
Executive of the Council, in consultation with the Chief Executive of all other
Constituent Councils to finalise and consent to the Regulations, further to any
technical amendments which may arise. This delegation will be exercised following
consultation with the Leader of the Council. Provision of a delegation will enable such
amendments required by the JCSI to be agreed swiftly, to avoid any delays in laying
the Regulations prior to the Christmas recess.

6.24 The Combined Authorities (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017 (Amendment) Regulations

2023 (the Elections Regulations) are proposed to be laid and come into force prior to
the coming into force of the East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations
2023. The Elections Regulations permit the appointment by the Constituent Councils
of a combined county authority returning officer (CCARO) for the mayoral election
ahead of the creation of the EMCCA. This is in order that preparations for the election
can be commenced prior to the creation of the EMCCA. It is proposed that, subject to
the passing of the Elections Regulations, Melbourne Barrett, Returning Officer of
Nottingham City Council, is appointed as the first CCARO and Council is asked to
make a resolution to that effect. The CCARO will be required to print and post a
mayoral election booklet to every elector in the combined county authority area, 1.6m
individuals in total. The booklet will include information from the CCARO about the
election and an election address from each candidate. The costs of this will be
incorporated in the overall costs of running the election, which are to be borne by the
EMCCA.

Page 9



6.25 In County areas, the Elections Regulations also make provision for the CCARO to
direct district/borough council local returning officers to discharge the CCARO’s
functions at the election. This means that the usual arrangements where
district/borough councils deliver the election for county areas will apply, where the
election is a mayoral election for EMCCA.

6.26 Once elected, the term of office of the Mayor returned at the election usually begins
with the fourth day after the day of the poll. However, as the 6th May 2024 is a bank
holiday, the Mayor will take office on Tuesday 7th May 2024. The Mayor’s term of
office is four years.

Provision of powers within the East Midlands Combined County
Authority Regulations 2023

6.27 In their Proposal, the Constituent Councils requested powers from Government for
the EMCCA, focussed on finance and governance, planning, housing and
regeneration, education and skills, and public health.

6.28 The majority of the powers outlined in the powers table, which was appended to the
Proposal, are provided to the EMCCA through the Regulations, so they reflect to a
large extent the powers that the Proposal was seeking. However, powers outlined in
the powers table relating to education and skills are not included in the Regulations,
because they are due to be provided by a subsequent specific statutory instrument
(SI). In addition, powers relating to net zero are provided to the EMCCA through
consequential amendment to the Environment Act 1995, by the introduction of a new
section 86(c).

6.29 There are some relatively significant changes in the draft Regulations in respect of
the phasing of transport powers (but not to the substantive powers conferred),
providing that most powers are subject to a transitional phase where powers are
retained by the Constituent Councils before transfer to the EMCCA, at the end of the
transitional phase. There are also some more minor technical changes from what
was set out in the powers table. The changes are set out in Appendix 2 to this
Report.

6.30 In addition, in the review of the draft regulations, four technical matters were
identified which require correction. These have been raised with DLUHC and it has
been confirmed that these will be addressed as part of updates to the final draft
Regulations following the conclusion of JCSI's review. The attached Appendix 2
setting out changes from the powers table included in the Proposal has been
produced on the assumption that these corrections will be made.

Funding provisions within the East Midlands Combined County Authority
Regulations 2023

6.31 As set out in the Proposal, the Regulations provide that the Constituent Councils
must ensure the costs of the EMCCA reasonably attributable to the exercise of CCA
functions are met. It is not anticipated that there will be a call on the Constituent
Councils in this regard. However, if there is such a call, then the proportions will be
by agreement between the Constituent Councils or on an equal basis if not agreed.

6.32 There are safeguards for the Constituent Councils, in that they will be constituent
members voting on EMCCA decisions in respect of CCA functions and the extent to
which they are discharged. In additidPag@@di@val or amendment of the CCA budget



requires the majority to vote in favour and that majority must include each Constituent
Council's lead member, or a substitute for that lead member acting in place of that
member.

6.33 The Regulations also provide that the Constituent Councils must meet the costs of
expenditure reasonably incurred by the Mayor, to the extent that the Mayor has
decided not to meet the costs from other resources available to the EMCCA. There is
an inbuilt safeguard in relation to this requirement in that the Mayor must agree the
level of expenditure with the CCA ahead of it being incurred and in the absence of
the agreement, no such expenditure may be incurred.

6.34 The costs of the EMCCA attributable to the exercise of its functions relating to
transport may be met by means of a levy issued by the CCA under section 74 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1988, and in accordance with the Transport Levying
Bodies Regulations 1992. The proportion of such levy payable by each Constituent
Council is determined by agreement between the Constituent Councils and, if not
agreed, based on the council tax base for the financial year in which the levy is
issued for the area of each council concerned, or, as the case may be, the part of
that area in respect of which the levy is issued.

6.35 More information on the anticipated use of transport levies is set out in the "Financial
Comments” section below and in more detail in Part 9 of the draft Regulations. The
above safeguard regarding the discharge of CCA functions and approval of the
budget will apply in respect of the transport levy.

Plans to establish the EMCCA

6.36 The Constituent Councils have established a programme of work to provide for the
establishment of the EMCCA and the inaugural mayoral election in May 2024. The
Executive Leaders Group, comprising the eight leaders and deputies from the
constituent councils and four representatives from district and borough councils,
oversees this programme under a clear governance structure. A Programme Board
made up of senior officers from each of the Constituent Councils and local partners
manages a series of workstreams to operationalise the new powers and funding.
Dedicated programme capacity is in place to work alongside partners to deliver the
plans that are in place, subject to the passing of the Regulations.

Shadow Authority

6.37 Should the Constituent Councils consent to the passing of the Regulations, the
current transitional phase will move into a phase of operating as a Shadow Authority
to support a smooth transition to the fully established EMCCA (which will come into
existence the day after the coming into force of the Regulations, which is likely to be
in February/March 2024).

6.38 The Shadow Authority will oversee the planning and implementation of establishing
the EMCCA. It will not be a legal entity but will continue to operate as currently:
collaboratively from within the Constituent Councils and in an advisory capacity until
the EMCCA can be formally established in early 2024. It will prepare for and put in
place capacity for operational day one capability. District and borough councils
remain critical partners and will continue to be actively engaged in the programme,
including through continued representation in the shadow governance arrangements.

Page 11



6.39

Until the EMCCA is formally established, the basis of decision-making will continue to
be advisory, and there will be no separate commissioning or service delivery. The
first meeting of the Shadow Board is planned for as soon as possible after approval
of the making of the Regulations by the Constituent Councils.

Investment and functions

Regional strategic focus and investment

6.40

6.41

6.42

6.43

6.44

The EMCCA will focus initially on five broad priority areas that will drive long-term,
targeted, and strategic investment. These have been chosen to give a shared focus
on driving fairer economic outcomes across the region for all our residents,
businesses, and partners. These investment priorities will provide better access to
new and more affordable homes, improve the region’s skills and access to
employment, provide improved access to public transport, support business &
innovation, and move the region toward Net Zero carbon.

To deliver this change, the EMCCA will create a fully developed, long-term
transformational funding programme, covering all budgets for devolved functions (the
“East Midlands Investment Fund”). This includes a grant of £38 million per year (half
revenue and half capital) fixed for 30 years, totalling £1.14bn. Subject to government
agreement on the Assurance Framework submitted in October 2023, it is anticipated
that early access to £19m of this total fund will be released in the 2023/24 financial
year; annual payments of £38m will then start from the 2024/25 financial year. This is
a devolved, highly flexible grant, subject to five-year gateway reviews that (currently)
involve independent evaluation commissioned by DLUHC.

The investment package worth more than £4 billion will enable the EMCCA to unlock
significant amounts of investment over and above this amount, from private capital.

The Shadow Authority will develop an investment framework for decisions that will be
made from the start of the 2024/25 year, with input from partners and stakeholders
where necessary. In the short-term, the aim will be to maximise early opportunities to
make progress, while laying the foundations for further transformational change,
which goes beyond the current deal in future years. Therefore, while EMCCA will
deliver a range of early investments that can demonstrate impact in its first year of
operation, the investment framework will also form a broader and longer-term
strategy stretching years into the future.

EMCCA has already been provided with a clear and early opportunity to underscore
its strategic leadership role for the region, attracting business and creating new jobs
to the area with the East Midlands Investment Zone (EMIZ). The Shadow Authority
(and then the EMCCA once established) will oversee the implementation of the EMIZ
focussed on the key growth sectors of advanced manufacturing and green industries.
Work is ongoing with Government, the constituent councils and other local partners,
and regional partners such as the East Midlands Freeport to align initiatives in the
region to maximise their impact and confirm the governance and delivery model. The
Government has committed £160 million by extending the programme and
associated tax reliefs from five to ten years. Further work is also underway with the
East Midlands Development Company to consider how best to proceed with plans to
fully realise the opportunities for the area in the sites they have in scope.

Net zero/green economy

Page 12



6.45

6.46

6.47

The EMCCA will put the shift towards reducing carbon emissions and creating a
green economy at the heart of its approach to economic growth. The region is well
placed to lead the move away from fossil to fusion and play its part in achieving the
national ambition to achieve net zero by 2050. EMCCA will work with partners in the
area to become a leader in pioneering new forms of clean energy generation and will
act as an exemplar for climate change adaption.

Devolution has already brought new investment of £9 million capital funding in
2022/23 and 2023/24 for investment in projects that will drive these net zero
ambitions. This includes the provision of a new retrofit construction skills centre to
support the delivery of the wider, retrofit programme.

Additional investment monies are also increasing access to digital connectivity in the
EMCCA area, by connecting public service buildings, such as rural schools, doctors’
surgeries and libraries, to gigabit broadband and widening the range of locations,
adding up to 118 additional premises to the original 235.

Transport

6.48

6.49

6.50

6.51

The majority of transport functions and powers will not be discharged by the EMCCA
from day one, but will instead be held concurrently with the Constituent Councils to
enable a period of transition. The manner in which those powers will transition, will be
dealt with by way of an Inter-Authority Agreement (‘IAA’). As the EMCCA is
established it will take on greater responsibility for transport functions with associated
changes to how transport is planned, delivered and operated across the region. The
announcement of £1.5bn for transport investment for the EMCCA area as part of the
Government’s Network North proposals, along with commitments to longer term
funding certainty for the EMCCA, will enable a transformational improvement in local
transport.

Working with the constituent councils, the EMCCA will, once established, lead the
development of a draft area-wide Local Transport Plan for public consultation,
intended to be ready for stakeholder engagement around Spring 2024, public
consultation in Autumn 2024 and publication in Spring 2025. Preliminary work has
already started within each of the Constituent Councils, with support from the
devolution programme. The LTP will provide a clear and visionary policy framework
that will underpin an ambitious programme of local transport investment, thereby
taking full advantage of the £1.5bn of new transport funding announced by
government in early October, which is expected to be awarded to the EMCCA
through the second round of City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement
(CRSTS2) funding. This programme will be constructed from a combination of current
proposals, stated ambitions locally and from Government, and new initiatives
emerging from the broad evidence base.

The EMCCA will work with Constituent Councils to coordinate a joint approach to
highways asset management and define the Key Route Network. This is an
opportunity for the Constituent Councils to collaborate and standardise approaches
on key roads.

As part of its responsibility for transport strategy, the EMCCA will work closely with
strategic partners such as the East Midlands DevCo and the East Midlands Freeport,
pan-regional partnerships such as Midlands Connect, and form long-term
relationships with Great British Railways and train, tram and bus operators.

Page 13



6.52 The scale of the transport investment programme will ultimately require the EMCCA
to establish a substantial operating capability to manage the range of different
projects. Options to deliver this capability are being considered at present for
decision in Spring-Summer 2024 and could include working with partner
organisations with particular programme management expertise.

6.53 Transition planning is underway to consolidate the public transport powers into the
EMCCA, including for supported bus services, smart ticketing, and passenger
information. Due to the complexities of the various functions currently managed by
the Constituent Councils, it is expected that the transition will take place at an
appropriate point during the two-year Transition Period agreed with Government,
rather than at the start. It is intended that the IAA will be the mechanism under which
the transition will be governed.

6.54 The Nottingham tram network is currently operated under a PFI contract, which was
let by Nottingham City Council and which runs until 2034. The contract includes a
number of obligations that are the responsibility of Nottingham City Council, which
would need to be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Council (or a
Minister of the Crown) in the event of transfer. This would bring very significant risks
to Nottingham City Council that it is not in a position to accept, and so it has been
agreed, in discussion with Government, that the tram will not form part of the
Devolution Deal whilst the PFI contract is in place. However, this will not preclude
strategic planning for extending the tram as part of strategic transport planning for the
region.

6.55 The Devolution Deal and Proposal to Government sets out the Constituent Councils’
long-term aims for the tram network, including the possibility of its extension, and it is
anticipated that at the end of the PFI contract, responsibility for the tram will transfer
to the EMCCA to be consistent with other public transport functions and to ensure it
is fully integrated into policy and project decisions that are taken. This long-term aim
will be subject to financial appraisal and Government making suitable amendments to
the Greater Nottingham Light Rapid Transit Act 1994 and Nottingham Express
Transit System Order 20009.

Land and Housing

6.56 The EMCCA will work with local authorities, landowners, developers, and the full
range of housing providers, to create affordable, good quality housing options and to
retrofit existing homes to be more environmentally sustainable. The relevant housing
authorities in the area have set out in their Local Plans and Housing Strategy
documents, their local housing priorities around brownfield remediation, housing
guality and decarbonisation, and systems improvement to support local supported
and specialised housing needs. To support those aims, the EMCCA will invest
devolved housing capital to support the building of new homes on brownfield land,
worth £16.8 million in 2024/25 — supported by the provision of £918,000 capacity
funding over 2023/24 and 2024/25 for development of a pipeline of housing sites.
Allocations for locally led brownfield development beyond that year is subject to
future spending reviews. Through devolution, however, the area is on the list of areas
that is eligible to secure these allocations from Government. Additionally, through
devolution, the region has already benefited from £9 million of additional housing
capital to support the delivery of housing priorities across 2022/23 and 2023/24.

6.57 The EMCCA and Mayor specifically will also secure a range of broad new housing
and land powers to: acquire and disppog&eoﬂland to build houses, commercial space



and infrastructure, for growth and regeneration; land assembly and compulsory
purchase powers, subject to the agreement of the Constituent Councils and, where
applicable, the district/borough council(s) where the relevant land is located; power to
designate Mayoral Development Areas and to create Mayoral Development
Corporations to support delivery on strategic sites across the area, again subject to
the agreement of local partners. Over time, the EMCCA will work with partners on a
plan to tackle homelessness and support people who are at risk of homelessness.

Adult Education and Skills

6.58

6.59

6.60

6.61

Subject to meeting the government’s readiness conditions and Parliamentary
approval, which is expected to be met in the first year following its establishment, the
EMCCA will take on the fully devolved adult education budget (AEB) from the
academic year 2025/26. The devolution of the relevant powers from the Department
for Education to the EMCCA will be subject to separate secondary legislation,
anticipated to be laid in early 2025. The Constituent Councils understand the value of
this budget is approximately £53 million per year on current values. These
arrangements do not cover apprenticeships or traineeships, even though the latter is
funded through the AEB. The government has provided support for local preparations
for taking on these relevant functions, including providing £0.738m revenue over
2023/24, 2024/25 and 2025/26 of implementation funding that has been provided on
a ‘matched-funded’ basis, following the submission and agreement of a business
case.

Devolution of the AEB and associated functions will enable the EMCCA, working with
partners, to make allocations to providers and target spend to tackle the needs of
people, businesses and our communities — consistent with statutory entitlements.
This will support all types of businesses, including small and medium enterprises
(SMEs), to stimulate productivity create new local jobs, whilst simultaneously
benefiting the regional economy. It is understood that the Government will set
proportionate requirements about outcome information to be collected, in order to
enable local discretion about when funds are to be targeted, whilst also allowing
students to make informed choices about the courses they wish to undertake.

The EMCCA is also expected to take responsibility for the regional design and
delivery of the Free Courses for Jobs (FCFJ) programme, with a value of
approximately £24m per year. The programme is focussed on people without a level
3 qualification who earn below the National Minimum Wage annually. Managing the
FCFJ alongside AEB will enable EMCCA to take a strategically aligned approach in
commissioning appropriate skills provision across the region.

The work of the D2N2 LEP People & Skills Advisory Board provides a foundation for
future thinking about how the skills system should operate in the region, and will feed
into further work to build on the evidence base and development of future EMCCA
strategies and policies.

Business & innovation

6.62

Devolution provides the opportunity for the EMCCA to develop a strategic approach
to enabling business growth across the region. A focus on digital connectivity and
supporting region-wide innovation will enable increased productivity of both individual
businesses and the sector as a whole. Working in partnership, EMCCA will be able to
develop an aligned approach to inward investment, presenting a unified prospect to
potential investors. As the region evpg@é jeyvards a clean energy production future



over the next 10-20 years, there will be significant opportunities for innovation growth
in the advanced engineering and energy technology clusters. This will drive the need
to evolve and grow the wider business supply chain and support SMEs. Accessing
skills learning and development through our learning providers will help to support
local businesses innovate product development and generate access to high value
jobs.

EMCCA Operating Model

6.63 The operating structure of the EMCCA will be designed in way that maximises the
opportunities presented by devolution, the added value of its investment and
commissioning, and in a way that delivers value for money for taxpayers. Detailed
work is underway to define its operating model and put the new organisation in place,
subject to the passing and coming into force of the Regulations. This work aims to
enable the new institution to deliver significant new functions and investment in its
first year of operations, with the capacity to exploit new opportunities and the
potential to scale up at speed. The costs of any operating structure are to be met by
the EMCCA.

6.64 Whilst the governance model for EMCCA as a Combined County Authority will be
implemented in the region for the first time in the country, the combined authority
model is well understood and has been used for years in places including Greater
Manchester and the West Midlands. The programme is drawing on lessons learned
from others’ experiences, so that the EMCCA is rightly sized for its remit and context.

6.65 A programme team working across the four Constituent Councils will continue to
support the work that paves the way for EMCCA being fully established in May 2024.
Nottinghamshire County Council is hosting new appointments to the programme and
Derbyshire County Council is acting as the Accountable Body. The programme is
funded by government capacity funding.

6.66 In line with Government policy, the deal confirmed the D2N2 Local Enterprise
Partnership will be integrated into the EMCCA once established. Government has
confirmed some revenue funding will be provided to the EMCCA in 2024/25 to
support the delivery of functions currently delivered by the LEP. Subject to the
completion of due diligence and agreement by Constituent Councils and the
Government of the Integration Plan in early 2024, the integration of appropriate LEP
functions into EMCCA should proceed in a timely manner so that it is complete as
early as possible in 2024/25, to provide certainty to business and its current staff.

Governance of the EMCCA

6.67 The LURA sets out general provisions which apply to all combined county authorities
and the Regulations set out the governance arrangements for the EMCCA,
comprising up to 17 members in total as follows:

(a) The directly elected Mayor;
(b) 8 Constituent Members (each Constituent Council appointing 2 members);
(c) No more than 8 non-constituent members and associate members in total.

The Mayor is required to appoint one of the members of the EMCCA from the
Constituent Councils as a deputy mayor.

Page 16



6.68

6.69

6.70

6.71

As set out in the Proposal, 4 non-constituent members will represent the District and
Borough Councils within the Area (2 Non-Constituent Members nominated by
Derbyshire District and Borough Councils and 2 Non-Constituent Members
nominated by Nottinghamshire District and Borough Councils) and an associate
Member will represent the business voice. It will be for the EMCCA to determine
whether the remaining three additional Memberships will be used, and if so, what
interests those Memberships should seek to represent on the EMCCA. These
arrangements are not specified in the Regulations as the appointment of non-
constituent and associate members is a matter for the EMCCA.

The Proposal also provided that the nomination of non-constituent members of the
EMCCA appointed by Districts and Boroughs will be via two joint committees (one for
Derbyshire and one for Nottinghamshire). These non-constituent members will sit on
the EMCCA board as representatives of all Districts and Boroughs and not solely of
the District or Borough for which they are Councillor.

Prior to establishment of the EMCCA, the two existing joint committees have been
asked to nominate two representatives to the shadow authority together with two
substitutes on an informal basis. This is so that the composition of the shadow
authority can mirror, as closely as possible, the EMCCA.

Following establishment of the EMCCA, decisions of the EMCCA will be required to
formalise the arrangements. The following steps will need to be taken:

a. The new joint committee across Derby and Derbyshire to replace Vision Derbyshire
Joint Committee and the D2 Economic Prosperity Joint Committee, the Strategic
Leadership Board, will need to be established.

b. Following the establishment of the EMCCA, it needs to formally designate the D2
Strategic Leadership Board and the City of Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Economic
Prosperity Committee as nominating bodies.

c. Each joint committee must consent to the designation as a nominating body.

d. The terms of reference of the 2 joint committees will need to be amended to include
the function of nominating non-constituent representatives to the EMCCA and other
associated committee/advisory group representatives as and when requested.

6.72

The voice of business will be a critical component in the future EMCCA, given that a
key area of focus will be economy, industry, and business. The EMCCA will appoint
an Associate Member to the CCA who can represent the views of business moving
forward and establish a business-focused Advisory Board, which will be inclusive of
the diverse range of businesses operating in the area. This includes SMEs within
both urban and rural localities, and from all parts of the region. Whilst the Advisory
Board would not be a formal committee of the EMCCA, it is intended it would be part
of the formal governance arrangements and would exist to provide advice to the
EMCCA on all issues of business and economy relevant to the EMCCA. The EMCCA
would then appoint the Chair of that Advisory Group to the EMCCA as an Associate
Member, representing the views of business. There is also consideration of if and
how business, Higher Education, Further Education and third sector partners could
also sit on other boards and groups within the proposed CCA governance structure.
This is to be defined in the detail of the EMCCA’s governance and constitution once
established but is not required for consent to the Regulations.

6.73 The LURA requires the EMCCA to have at least one Overview and Scrutiny

Committee whose role will be to review and scrutinise the decision-making of the
EMCCA and the Mayor, to ensure tl'pféégqqlecision-making is appropriately focussed



on community needs, and that high quality delivery is taking place for the benefit of
the Area. It will also have an Audit and Governance Committee to review and assess
the authority in the areas of corporate governance, risk management, internal
controls, external audit, internal audit, financial reporting, and other related areas to
ensure that the financial and governance decision-making position of the EMCCA,
and the Mayor is sound. It will also review and assess the economy, efficiency and
effectiveness with which resources have been used in discharging the EMCCA’s
functions. In addition, key statutory officer roles will include a Head of Paid Service
(usually called a Chief Executive Officer); a Section 73 Officer (Finance Director) and
a Monitoring Officer. Details will be included in the EMCCA’s governance and
constitution in due course but are not required for consent to the Regulations.

6.74 Whilst there is limited reference to overview and scrutiny within the Regulations,
Schedule 1 of the LURA does contain provisions relevant to overview and scrutiny
and audit committees of CCAs. In addition, new overview and scrutiny and audit
regulations are anticipated for combined county authorities, which it is anticipated will
provide for the inclusion for CCAs within the Combined Authorities (Overview and
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017.

Decision-taking post establishment of the EMCCA and pre-mayoral election

6.75 Following the establishment of the EMCCA, there will be a period of time during
which the EMCCA will be operational, but a mayoral election will not yet have taken
place. During this period, the EMCCA will operate without a Mayor.

6.76 In such circumstances section 29(6) of the LURA would apply. It provides that if for
any reason the mayor is unable to act or the office of mayor is vacant, the other
members of the CCA must act together in place of the mayor, taking decisions by a
simple majority. It is envisaged that, chairing of meetings will be rotated during this
phase and there will be no casting vote.

Assurance Framework

6.77 As set out in the Devolution Deal, paragraph 12, the Constituent Councils committed
to developing a Constitution and Assurance Framework to confirm, clarify and
formalise the intention of institutions and local leaders to continue to be transparent
and accountable, work closely with local businesses, seek the best value for
taxpayers’ money and maintain strong ethical standards.

6.78 The Constitution has not yet been drafted, but the Assurance Framework was
submitted to Government by the Constituent Councils on 31 October 2023, and it is
only once this is confirmed, and the Regulations are made to establish the EMCCA,
that it will have access to the Investment Fund.

Consultation

6.79 As set out in the previous report to Council, it was not necessary for the Council to
wait for the Bill to receive Royal Assent prior to commencing consultation; section
45(5) of the Act confirms that consultation requirements may be satisfied by things
done before that section comes into force.

6.80 On receipt of the final Proposal submitted by the Constituent Councils to
Government, it is a matter for the Secretary of State to consider whether further
consultation is necessary or whethergggqarageed to make Regulations formally


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-devolution-deal/east-midlands-devolution-deal#governance

establishing the EMCCA. The Secretary of State has not stated that further
consultation is required. The formal consent to the making of the Regulations will be
required from the Constituent Councils which is the subject of this report.

Statutory and Policy Implications

6.81 This report has been compiled after consideration of implications in respect of crime
and disorder, data protection and information governance finance, human resources,
human rights, the NHS Constitution (public health services), the public sector equality
duty, safeguarding of children and adults at risk, service users, smarter working,
sustainability and the environment and where such implications are material they are
described below. Appropriate consultation has been undertaken and advice sought
on these issues as required.

7. Best Value Considerations

7.1 Following the Government’s publication of the Levelling Up White Paper in February 2022,
Nottingham, Nottinghamshire, Derby, and Derbyshire agreed to cooperate at pace on the
creation of a new devolution deal. Working in partnership in this way has meant that
Nottingham City Council has adopted a “Doing It With Others” (DIWO) approach to
devolution. As set out in the Devolution Deal, paragraph 12, the Constituent Councils
committed to developing a Constitution and Assurance Framework to confirm, clarify and
formalise the intention of institutions and local leaders to continue to be transparent and
accountable, work closely with local businesses, seek the best value for taxpayers’ money
and maintain strong ethical standards.

8. Finance colleague comments

8.1 The devolution deal confirms that the costs of establishing the EMCCA will be met from its
overall resources. For 2023/24, the government has committed £0.5m in mayoral
capacity, £0.5m in transport capacity, £0.459m for housing development, and £0.245m of
adult education implementation funding. Unless additional resources are allocated in this
financial year, costs incurred over these grants are subject to a four-way risk share
agreement, but it is not anticipated that this will be used.

8.2 The Regulations provides for the cost of the EMCCA once established to be met from the
general resources available to it. There is no separate funding for the cost of combined
authorities provided by Government, other than the provision of mayoral capacity funding
(confirmed in 2024/25 but thereafter subject to spending reviews) and the ability to utilise
supporting revenue funding alongside capital allocations for core operational costs. The
Regulations, therefore, provides that the Constituent Councils must meet any reasonably
incurred costs of the EMCCA. In practice, however, and other than the funding
arrangements for the transport levy (described below), the vast majority of the costs for
running EMCCA are to be met from grant funding and associated revenue or capacity
funding. This is the experience of MCAs in other areas and is what is currently expected
for the EMCCA. However, Full Council are requested to note the above theoretical
funding risk.

8.3 Ifin future a mayoral precept is applied, it will result in an additional cost to the council
taxpayer.

8.4 There are no planned additional contributions to be made to the EMCCA in 2024/25 (or
future years) from the Constituent Councils. Where funding lines are transferred to the
EMCCA this will be done on a ‘no n@tacgcésggg basis and confirmed each year as part of the


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-devolution-deal/east-midlands-devolution-deal#governance

8.5

8.6

8.7

9.1

9.2

Council’s usual budget setting process. Should another decision on funding be considered
that would be in addition to this ‘no net cost’ principle, for example a contribution of all or
some of the Constituent Councils for a particular project or investment, this would require
a further decision of the Council.

The Regulations provide for a transport levy. It is normal practice for combined authorities
like EMCCA to be provided with a legal power (under section 74 of the Transport Levying
Bodies Regulations 1992) to issue a levy from their members to meet the costs of carrying
out their transport functions that are provided on behalf of the region and to improve joint
working between those local authorities. The implementation of any levy for the 2024/25
financial year and subsequent years will be set out in the Transport Transition Plan to be
agreed between the Constituent Councils. The levy will be issued to the Constituent
Councils. The level of the levy will be for the EMCCA to determine and will be apportioned
to the Constituent Councils as agreed; should they not agree, the proportions are provided
for in legislation as namely by reference to the council tax base for the financial year in
which the levy is issued. By design, the levy shall be no more than the cost of the
functions to be transferred to the EMCCA. The levy will not include a contribution to the
general cost of running EMCCA, because it is intended for funding of transport services
that are currently delivered by the Constituent Councils. The Constituent Councils will
need to determine how to fund the levy as part of their budget process — it can be funded
from Council Tax, use of Government grants, or other sources.

In line with Local Authorities, EMCCA will be required to set a balanced budget annually
which will be approved by the agreed governance process including representatives of the
four Constituent Councils. Should EMCCA require further funding beyond the agreed
budget levels, additional funding will be split as agreed between the four Constituent
Councils and in the absence of agreement, in equal shares.

The costs of running a mayoral election are to be met by the EMCCA. The cost of the
inaugural mayoral election is provisionally estimated to be between £3-4 million. Wherever
possible, efficiencies will be delivered through sharing infrastructure with Police and Crime
Commissioner elections happening on the same day. The operational costs of the
mayoral election will not fall to the Constituent Councils, as it has been agreed with
government that funding for set up the new combined county authority and the early
release of investment funds in 2023/24 can be used for this purpose. Anticipated
amendments to the Combined Authority (Mayoral Elections) Order 2017 make provision
for expenditure properly incurred by a CCARO in relation to the holding of a mayoral
election to be paid by the constituent councils, should this be necessary, and
subsequently recovered from the CCA when established.

Legal colleague comments

The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023, which received royal assent on 26 October
2023, establishes a new type of combined county authority. This is distinct from a
combined authority that can be created under the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009.

Whilst the Constituent Councils agreed a devolution deal with Government, the creation of
a new East Midlands Combined County Authority is subject to the approval of the East
Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023. Consent must be given by all
four Constituent Councils to the making of the Regulations. In the event that all four
Constituent Councils do not consent to the Regulations as provided by the Secretary of
State, the process would end.

Page 20



9.3 The Act sets out a governance framework for membership of combined county authorities
(constituent, non-constituent, and associate members) and provides powers to the
Secretary of State to make regulations setting out the constitutional arrangements of the
EMCCA. These are described in the body of the report.

10. Other relevant comments
e HR:

10.1 At this stage of the development of the EMCCA there are no direct HR implications
arising from this report. Any future HR impacts will be managed in accordance with
established HR policies and procedures at each of the affected Councils and at the
Local Enterprise Partnership. Current and future activity includes appropriate internal
communication and engagement activity and where required formal consultation if
there are TUPE (Transfers of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations)
implications.

10.2 Nottinghamshire County Council has taken on the role of the appointing body for the
short-term contracts for the interim senior team and for the appointments to enable
the CCA to prepare for taking on Adult Education Budget responsibilities in 2025.
The latter appointments are expected to transfer to the EMCCA once established
whilst the interim team contracts were short term, pending permanent appointments
to be made by the EMCCA once established. All interims who are currently in place
to make preparations for the shadow authority and EMCCA, are contracted directly
with our recruitment partner Tile Hill. Their contractual position will remain as such
while the preparations continue. When EMCCA becomes a legal entity, structures
and roles will be created within that body and appointed to following standard
recruitment policies and processes.

11. Crime and Disorder Implications (If Applicable)

11.1 The Constituent Councils are committed to close working with the Police and Crime
Commissioners to ensure that there is no overlap, or additional bureaucracy added from
the creation of the proposed EMCAA. The intention is for the CCA and the Area’s Police
and Crime Commissioners generally; and particularly, to develop productive and joint
working on public safety; and to agree a protocol for working together.

12. Social value considerations (If Applicable)

12.1 One of the stated outcomes of the EMCCA is to reduce inequality and promote social
mobility to allow people to achieve their potential. The Proposal identified relevant
geographic and demographic disparities across the area, in terms of health, educational
attainment, skills, housing and life chances, reflecting the varied levels of deprivation and
diverse rural /urban landscape. The EMCCA will ensure there is a fair and proportionate
investment pipeline, that is balanced in terms of equity across the area, whilst delivering
improved outcomes and value for money from the investment.

13. Regard to the NHS Constitution (If Applicable)

13.1 The proposed EMCCA will work closely with the NHS. The EMCCA will complement and
support actions already being taken by Constituent Councils to improve people’s health
and well-being across the Area, using powers under the NHS Act 2006. The EMCCA will
ensure that improving and protecting the public’s health is a central consideration in
everything it does, including in environmental considerations, planning, regeneration and
transport activity.

Page 21



14. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

14.1 Has the equality impact of the proposals in this report been assessed?

No X

An EIA is not required because:

14.2 In coming to a decision, the Council should also have regard to the Public Sector
Equality Duty (PSED) under the Equality Act 2010. The PSED requires public
authorities to have "due regard" to:

e The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010 (section 149(1a)).

e The need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it (section
149(1b)). This involves having due regard to the need to:

* remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic
(section 149(3)(a));

+ or take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who
do not share it (section 149(3)(b)); and

* or encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by
such persons is disproportionately low (section 149(3)(c))

14.3 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed on the final Proposal approved
by the Council on 23 March 2023 (link). The EIA examined the possible equalities
impacts arising from the Proposal. The EIA recognised that the Proposal has the
potential to provide significant benefits to all communities, but specifically for people
from the protected characteristic groups and deprived communities.

14.4 In proceeding with the next stage of the process to establish the EMCCA a key
consideration is that the new EMCCA will become subject to the Public Sector
Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010 this will require the EMCCA to set equality
objectives, publish annual equalities information and have due regard for equality
matters when carrying out its functions, making decisions and delivering projects and
programmes.

14.5 The EIA action plan set out that the EMCCA should give early thought to how it can
begin to meet these and other duties, especially as it further develops its priorities,
becomes established and finalises its workstreams and Board composition.

14.6 As the Regulations is an enabling piece of legislation and therefore does not
significantly change the Proposal it is not considered necessary, at this stage, to
either amend the existing EIA or carry out further Equality Analysis as the Action Plan
and resulting mitigations remain unaltered.

Care Experienced People

14.7 The proposal should specifically impact positively on care experienced people and it
would be expected that significant focus is placed, especially within skills related
activities, and housing, on improving opportunities for care experienced people.
There is a potential for the proposed EMCCA to be formed and high-profile projects
to be developed but care experiencedzpropte to miss out on the potential benefits.


https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s145904/Appendix%205%20-%20Equality%20Impact%20Analysis%20Record%20March%202023.pdf

Armed Forces

14.8 Given the commitment of the constituent councils to the Armed Forces Covenant and

the recent introduction of the Armed Forces Public Duties, it is anticipated the
proposed EMCCA should consider how it can both engage this community and
ensure that within its functions it takes account of the duties, especially those relating
to employment and housing. There are no actual or potential negative outcomes or
impacts envisaged for Armed Forces/ex-Armed Forces personnel from the
establishment of the EMCCA or if detailed projects and programmes properly
consider the Armed Forces duties and make provision for them.

Implications for Residents

14.9

15.

15.1

15.2

16.

16.1

16.2

17.

The establishment of an EMCCA would result in a significant uplift in the powers and
funding available to the area as set out in this report. Further details of how the
EMCCA would operate and be funded are set out within the main body of the report.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA)

Has the data protection impact of the proposals in this report been assessed?

No X

A DPIA is not required because:

Following approval of the Regulations, work will need to be undertaken at the earliest
available opportunity to understand and assess what data needs to be shared
between the parties to establish the new authority, in order to ensure compliance
during the period of development, establishment and transition. Processes and
appropriate documentation will need to be in place for the transfer of staff data as
part of the initial set-up. It is for the EMCCA to consider appointment of its own Data
Protection Officer but in advance of that the work on establishing the EMCCA wiill
need to allocate responsibilities to an appropriate officer to facilitate relevant
documentation to be prepared in advance of services going live.

Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)

Has the carbon impact of the proposals in this report been assessed?

No X
A CIA is not required because:
(Please explain why a CIA is not necessary)

The decisions set out in the report to create the EMCCA and approve the
Regulations will not directly affect carbon emissions in a material way. The EMCCA
will develop its own plans and strategies to reduce carbon emissions which will be
subject to its own approval processes and approaching the issues from a wider
strategic and geographic position may beneficially impact the development of more
consistent and measurable carbon reduction measures. Climate and sustainability
impact will be considered as part of specific proposals.

List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including
published documents or confideq;sgadé)gigaxempt information)



17.1 N/A
18. Published documents referred to in this report

18.1 Except for previously published documents, which will be available elsewhere, the
documents listed here will be available for inspection in accordance with Section
100D of the Local Government Act 1972.

A. Levelling Up the United Kingdom - GOV.UK (www.goV.uk)

B. East Midlands devolution deal - GOV.UK (www.goVv.uk)

C. Devolution Deal — Consideration of Consultation Responses and submission of the
East Midlands Combined County Authority Proposal to Government

Councillor David Mellen
Leader of the Council

Page 24


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/east-midlands-devolution-deal
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=9960&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=156&MId=9960&Ver=4

Draft Regulations laid before Parliament under section 252(4) of the Levelling-up and
Regeneration Act 2023, for approval by resolution of each House of Parliament.

DRAFT STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

2023 No.
HEALTH, ENGLAND
LOCAL GOVERNMENT, ENGLAND
TRANSPORT, ENGLAND

The East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations
2023

Made - - - - *kk

Coming into force in accordance with regulation 1(1) and (2)

The Secretary of State makes the following Regulations in exercise of the powers conferred by
sections 9(1), 10, 13(1), 16(1), 18(1) and (3), 19(1), (2), (3) and (7), 27, 30(1), (7), (9) and (10),
32(1) to (4), 53(1), 54, 252(1) and (2) of and paragraph 3 of Schedule 2 to the Levelling-up and
Regeneration Act 2023(a) (“the 2023 Act”).

The Secretary of State, having had regard to a proposal prepared and published under section 45 of
the 2023 Act, considers that—

(a) the making of these Regulations is likely to improve the economic, social and environmental
well-being of some or all of the people who live or work in the area to which the Regulations
relate,

(b) the making of these Regulations will achieve the purposes specified under section 45(7) of the
2023 Act, and

(c) any consultation required by section 45(4) of the 2023 Act has been carried out.

In making these Regulations, the Secretary of State has had regard to the need to secure effective
and convenient local government and to the need to reflect the identities and interests of local
communities(b).

(a) 2023c.55.
(b) Section 46(1)(b) of the 2023 Act requires the Secretary of State, when making regulations to establish a combined county
authority, to have regard to these matters.

Page 25



In accordance with sections 10(8), 16(2)(a), 18(6)(a), 20(2)(b) and 46(1)(d) of the 2023 Act, the
councils of the local government areas of Derby City, Derbyshire, Nottingham, and
Nottinghamshire have consented to the making of these Regulations.

In accordance with section 20(6) of the 2023 Act the Secretary of State has laid before Parliament
a report explaining the effect of these Regulations and why the Secretary of State considers it
appropriate to make these Regulations.

A draft of this instrument has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, each House of
Parliament pursuant to section 252(4) of the 2023 Act.

Accordingly, the Secretary of State makes the following Regulations:

PART 1

General

Citation and commencement
1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the East Midlands Combined County Authority
Regulations 2023.

(2) Save as provided in paragraph (3) these Regulations come into force on the day after the day
on which they are made.

(3) Part 8 of these Regulations comes into force on 7th May 2024.

Interpretation

2. In these Regulations—
“the 1980 Act” means the Highways Act 1980(a);
“the 1985 Act” means the Housing Act 1985(b);
“the 1989 Act” means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989(c);
“the 1990 Act” means the Town and Country Planning Act 1990(d);
“the 1999 Act” means the Greater London Authority Act 1999(e);
“the 2000 Act” means the Transport Act 2000(f);
“the 2003 Act” means the Local Government Act 2003(g);
“the 2004 Act” means the Traffic Management Act 2004(h);
“the 2006 Act” means the National Health Service Act 2006(i);
“the 2008 Act” means the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008(j);
“the 2011 Act” means the Localism Act 2011(K);
“the 2023 Act” means the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023(a);

(a) 1980 c. 66.
(b) 1985c. 68.
(c) 1989c.42.
(d) 1990c.8.

(e) 1999 c. 29.
(f) 2000 c. 38.
(9) 2003 c. 26.
(h) 2004 c. 18.
(i) 2006 c. 41.
() 2008c.17.
(k) 2011c.20.

Page 26



“the Area” means the area consisting of the areas of the constituent councils;
“the BRS Act” means the Business Rate Supplements Act 2009(b);

“the Combined County Authority” means the East Midlands Combined County Authority as
constituted by regulation 3;

“Corporation” means a corporation established by the Secretary of State in accordance with
the provisions in section 198 of the 2011 Act, as modified by Schedule 3, following the
designation of an area of land by the Combined County Authority;

“constituent councils” means the councils for the local government areas of Derby City,
Derbyshire, Nottingham, and Nottinghamshire;

“district councils” means the councils for the local government areas of Amber Valley,
Ashfield, Bassetlaw, Bolsover, Broxtowe, Chesterfield, Derbyshire Dales, Erewash, Gedling,
High Peak, Mansfield, Newark and Sherwood, North East Derbyshire, Rushcliffe, and South
Derbyshire;

“election for the return of the mayor” means an election held pursuant to regulation 5 of these
Regulations;

“highway authority” and “local highway authority” have the same meaning as in sections 1 to
3 and 329(1) of the 1980 Act(c);

“the ordinary day of election”, in relation to any year means the day which is the ordinary day
of election in that year of councillors for counties in England and districts as determined in
accordance with section 37 of the Representation of the People Act 1983(d);

“Mayor” means the mayor for the Area, except in the term “Mayor of London”; and

“the transition period” means the period beginning with the day on which this regulation
comes into force and ending with 31st March 2026.

PART 2

Establishment of a combined county authority for East Midlands

Establishment

3.—(1) There is established a combined county authority for the Area.

M

(2) The combined county authority is to be a body corporate and is to be known as the East
idlands Combined County Authority.

(3) The functions of the Combined County Authority are those functions conferred or imposed

upon it by these Regulations or by any other enactment (whenever passed or made), or as may be
delegated to it by or under these Regulations or any other enactment (whenever passed or made).

(a)
(b)
©

©)

2023 c. 55.

2009.c. 7.

Section 1 was amended by the Local Government Act 1985 (c. 51), paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 and Schedule 17, the New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (c. 22), section 21(2), the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c. 19), paragraph 1(2)
and (3) of Schedule 7, the Greater London Authority Act 1999, section 259(1) to (3) and the Infrastructure Act 2015 (c. 7),
paragraph 2 of Schedule 7. Section 2 was amended by the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, section 21(3), the
Greater London Authority Act 1999, section 259(4) and (5) and the Infrastructure Act 2015, paragraph 3 of Schedule 7.
Section 3 was amended by the Infrastructure Act 2015, paragraph 4 of Schedule 7. Section 329(1) was amended by the
Infrastructure Act 2015, paragraph 60(2) of Schedule 1. There are other amendments to section 329 that are not relevant to
these Regulations.

1983 c. 2. Section 37 was amended by section 18(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1985 (c. 50), renumbered by
paragraph 5 of Schedule 3 to the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (c. 29), and further amended by section 6(16) of the
Wales Act 2017 (c. 4) and by S.I. 2018/1310.

Page 27



Constitution

4. Schedule 1 (which makes provision about the constitution of the Combined County Authority)
has effect.

PART 3
Election of Mayor

Election of Mayor

5.—(1) There is to be a mayor for the Area.
(2) The first election for the return of a mayor for the Area is to take place on 2nd May 2024.
(3) Subsequent elections for the return of a mayor for the Area are to take place—
(a) on the ordinary day of election in 2028, and
(b) in every fourth year thereafter on the same day as the ordinary day of election.

(4) The term of office of the mayor returned at an election for the return of a mayor for the
Area—

(a) begins with 7th May 2024, and

(b) ends with the third day after the day of the poll at the next election for the return of a
mayor for the Area.

Political adviser

6.—(1) The Mayor may appoint one person as the Mayor’s political adviser.

(2) Any appointment under paragraph (1) is an appointment as an employee of the Combined
County Authority.

(3) No appointment under paragraph (1) may extend beyond—
(a) the term of office for which the Mayor who made the appointment was elected; or

(b) where the Mayor who made the appointment ceases to be the Mayor before the end of the
term of office for which the Mayor was elected, the date on which the Mayor ceases to
hold that office.

(4) A person appointed under paragraph (1) is to be regarded for the purposes of Part 1 of the
1989 Act (political restriction of officers and staff) as holding a politically restricted post under a
local authority.

(5) Section 9(1), (8), (9) and (11) of the 1989 Act (assistants for political groups)(a), apply in
relation to an appointment under paragraph (1) as if—

(a) any appointment to that post were the appointment of a person in pursuance of that
section; and

(b) the Combined County Authority were a relevant authority for the purposes of that section.

(6) Subsection (3) of section 9 of the 1989 Act applies in relation to an appointment under
paragraph (1) as if the words from “and that the appointment terminates” to the end of that
subsection were omitted.

(a) Section 9 was amended by sections 61 and 204 of, and paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to, the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and by S.1. 2001/2237. There are other amendments not relevant to these Regulations.

Page 28



PART 4

Housing, regeneration and planning

Conferral of functions corresponding to functions that the HCA has in relation to the Area

7.—(1) The functions of the Homes and Communities Agency (“HCA”) which are specified in the
following provisions of the 2008 Act are to be functions of the Combined County Authority that are
exercisable in relation to the Area—

(a) section 5 (powers to provide housing or other land);

(b) section 6 (powers for regeneration, development or effective use of land);
(c) section 7 (powers in relation to infrastructure);

(d) section 8 (powers to deal with land etc);

(e) section 9 (acquisition of land);

(f) section 10 (restrictions on disposal of land);

(g) section 11 (main powers in relation to acquired land)(a);

(h) section 12 (powers in relation to, and for, statutory undertakers);

(i) paragraphs 19 and 20 of Schedule 3 (powers in relation to burial grounds and consecrated
land etc), and

(j) paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 (extinguishment or removal powers for the HCA), 10 (counter-
notices) and 20 (notification of proposal to make order) of Schedule 4.

(2) The Combined County Authority must exercise the functions described in the provisions
specified in paragraph (1) for the purposes of, or for purposes incidental to, the objectives of —

(a) improving the supply and quality of housing in the Area;
(b) securing the regeneration or development of land or infrastructure in the Area;

(c) supporting in other ways the creation, regeneration or development of communities in the
Area or their continued well-being; and

(d) contributing to the achievement of sustainable development and good design in the Area,

with a view to meeting the needs of people living in the Area.
(3) The functions described in the provisions specified in paragraph (1) are—
(a) exercisable concurrently with the HCA; and

(b) subject to Schedules 2 (acquisition of land) and 3 (main powers in relation to land
acquired by the HCA) to the 2008 Act.

(4) In paragraph (2) “good design” and “needs” have the meanings given by section 2(2) of the
2008 Act and the reference to improving the supply of housing includes a reference to improving
the supply of particular kinds of housing.

(5) The exercise of the function at section 9(2) of the 2008 Act referred to at sub-paragraph (e)
of paragraph (1) is subject to the condition set out in regulation 9 (condition on the exercise of the
functions conferred by regulations 7 and 8).

Acquisition and appropriation of land for planning and public purposes

8.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils and of the district councils specified in the
following provisions as applied by regulation 10(2) to (5) are exercisable by the Combined County
Authority in relation to the Area—

(a) section 8 of the 1985 Act (periodical review of housing needs)(a);

(a) Section 11 was amended by section 32(1) and (2) of the Infrastructure Act 2015.

Page 29



(b)
(©
(d)
O

®

()
(h)
(i)
0)
(k)

0]
(m)

(n)
(0)
(P)

section 11 of the 1985 Act (provision of board and laundry facilities)(b);
section 12 of the 1985 Act (provision of shops, recreation grounds, etc)(c);
section 17 of the 1985 Act (acquisition of land for housing purposes)(d), and

section 18 of the 1985 Act (duties with respect to buildings acquired for housing
purposes);

section 226 of the 1990 Act (compulsory acquisition of land for development and other
planning purposes)(e);

section 227 of the 1990 Act (acquisition of land by agreement);

section 229 of the 1990 Act (appropriation of land forming part of common, etc);
section 230(1)(a) of the 1990 Act (acquisition of land for purposes of exchange);
section 232 of the 1990 Act (appropriation of land held for planning purposes);

section 233 of the 1990 Act (disposal by local authorities of land held for planning
purposes)(f);

section 235 of the 1990 Act (development of land held for planning purposes);

section 236 of the 1990 Act (extinguishment of rights over land compulsorily
acquired)(g);

section 238 of the 1990 Act (use and development of consecrated land);
section 239 of the 1990 Act (use and development of burial grounds);
section 241 of the 1990 Act (use and development of open spaces),

(2) The functions specified in paragraph (1) are exercisable concurrently with the constituent
councils and with the district councils.

(3) The exercise of the functions referred to at sub-paragraphs (a) and (o) of paragraph (1) are
subject to the condition set out in regulation 9.

Condition on the exercise of the functions conferred by regulations 7 and 8

9. The exercise of the functions conferred by regulations 7 and 8 in section 17 of the 1985 Act
(insofar as this function is exercised for the compulsory purchase of land), section 9(2) of the 2008
Act and section 226 of the 1990 Act by the Combined County Authority requires the consent of—

(@)

(b)
(©

the lead member for any constituent council whose area contains any part of the land
subject to the proposed compulsory acquisition, or a substitute member acting in place of
such a member;

each district council whose local government area contains any part of the land subject to
the proposed compulsory acquisition; and

the Peak District National Park Authority if the Combined County Authority proposes to
exercise the functions in respect of the whole or any part of the area of the Peak District
National Park,

to be provided at a meeting of the Combined County Authority.

@)

(b)
(©
(d)
©

("
)

Section 8 was amended by paragraph 62 of Schedule 11 to the 1989 Act and section 124 of the Housing and Planning Act
2016 (c. 22).

Section 11 was amended by section 198 of and paragraph 103 of Schedule 6 to the Licensing Act 2003 (c. 17).

Section 12 was amended by S.1. 2010/844.

Section 17 was amended by section 222 of, and paragraph 24 of Schedule 18 to, the Housing Act 1996 (c. 52).

Section 226 was amended by sections 79, 99 and 120 of, paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 and paragraph 1 of Schedule 9 to, the
2004 Act.

Section 233 was amended by section 8 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 (c. 27).

Section 236 was amended by section 406 of, and paragraph 103 of Schedule 17 to, the Communications Act 2003 (c. 21).

Page 30


http://uk.westlaw.com/Document/I11EC09A0E44C11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.DocLink)

Application of certain provisions of the 1985 Act, the 1990 Act and the 2008 Act

10.—(1) This regulation has effect in consequence of regulations 7 and 8.

(2) The provisions set out in section 17 of the 1985 Act (acquisition of land for housing
purposes) apply to the Combined County Authority as they apply to a local housing authority
within the meaning of section 1 of the 1985 Act.

(3) For the purposes of regulation 8(1)(0) and (p) the Combined County Authority is to be
treated as a local housing authority for the Area(a).

(4) Part 9 of the 1990 Act (acquisition and appropriation of land for planning purposes, etc)
applies in relation to the Combined County Authority and land which has been vested in or
acquired by the Combined County Authority for planning and public purposes as it applies to a
local planning authority and land vested in or acquired by a local planning authority for planning
and public purposes.

(5) Chapters 1 and 2 of Part 1 of, and Schedules 2 to 4 to, the 2008 Act apply in relation to the
powers of the Combined County Authority to acquire land for housing and infrastructure as they
apply to the HCA and land acquired by the HCA with the modifications made by Parts 1 and 2 of
Schedule 2 to these Regulations.

(6) In this regulation “local planning authority” has the meaning given by section 336(1) of the
1990 Act.

PART 5
Mayoral development corporation

Mayoral development corporation

11.—(1) The Combined County Authority has, in relation to the Area, functions corresponding to
the functions described in the provisions in the 2011 Act referred to in paragraph (2) that the Mayor
of London has in relation to Greater London.

(2) The provisions in the 2011 Act referred to in paragraph (1) are—
(a) section 197 (designation of Mayoral development areas);
(b) section 199 (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas);
(c) section 200 (transfers of property etc to a Mayoral development corporation)(b);
(d) section 202 (functions in relation to town and country planning);
(e) section 204 (removal or restriction of planning functions);
(f) section 214 (powers in relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic rates);
(g) section 215 (reviews);
(h) section 216 (transfers of property, rights and liabilities)(c);
(i) section 217 (dissolution: final steps);
(j) section 219 (guidance by the Mayor);
(k) section 220 (directions by the Mayor);
(I) section 221 (consents);
(m) paragraph 1 of Schedule 21 (membership);

(@) In section 1 of the 1985 Act “local housing authority” means a district council, a London borough council, the Common
Council of the City of London, a Welsh county council or county borough council or the Council of the Isles of Scilly.

(b) Section 200 was amended by section 151(1) of, and paragraphs 174 and 178 of Part 2 of Schedule 4 to, the Co-operative
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 (c. 14).

(c) Section 216(4) was amended by section 151(1) of, and paragraphs 174 and 179 of Part 2 of Schedule 4 to, the Co-operative
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.

Page 31



(n) paragraph 2 of Schedule 21 (terms of appointment of members);
(o) paragraph 3 of Schedule 21 (staff);

(p) paragraph 4 of Schedule 21 (remuneration etc: members and staff);
(g) paragraph 6 of Schedule 21 (committees); and

(r) paragraph 8 of Schedule 21 (proceedings and meetings).

Application of provisions in the 2011 Act

12.—(1) Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations) applies in
relation to the Combined County Authority as it applies in relation to the Mayor of London, with the
modifications made by Schedule 3.

(2) Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act applies in relation to a Corporation as it applies in
relation to a Mayoral development corporation, with the modifications made by Schedule 3.

(3) Subject to paragraph (6), in any enactment (whenever passed or made)—
(a) any reference to a Mayoral development corporation; or
(b) any reference which falls to be read as a reference to a Mayoral development corporation,

is to be treated as including a reference to a Corporation.

(4) For the purposes of any transfer scheme relating to a Corporation under any provisions of the
2011 Act applied with modifications by these Regulations, paragraph 9 of Schedule 24 to the 2011
Act (transfers under scheme under section 17, 200(1) or (4) or 216(1)) applies in relation to—

(a) any property, rights or liabilities transferred to or from a Corporation in accordance with a
transfer scheme; or

(b) anything done for the purposes of, or in relation to, or in consequence of, the transfer of
any property, rights or liabilities to or from a Corporation in accordance with such a
transfer scheme,

as it applies in relation to a Mayoral development corporation.

(5) For the purposes of establishing a Corporation, giving the Corporation a name, giving effect
to any decisions notified to the Secretary of State under sections 199(4) (exclusion of land from
Mayoral development areas), 202(8) (decisions about planning functions), or 214(6) (powers in
relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic rates) of the 2011 Act or in relation to the
transfer of land to or from a Corporation under any provision of the 2011 Act, applied with
modifications by these Regulations, section 235 of the 2011 Act (orders and regulations) applies in
relation to—

(a) the power of a Minister of the Crown to make an order under sections 198(2) (mayoral
development corporations: establishment) and 200(6) (transfers of property etc to a
Mayoral development corporation) of that Act; and

(b) the power of the Treasury to make regulations under paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 24 to
that Act,

as it applies in relation to the establishment of a Mayoral development corporation, giving the
corporation a name, giving effect to any decisions notified to the Secretary of State (under sections
199(4), 202(8) and 214(6) of the 2011 Act) or in relation to the transfer of land to or from a
Mayoral development corporation.
(6) Paragraph (3) does not apply to—
(a) paragraph 9(8)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Channel Tunnel Rail Link Act 1996 (works:
further and supplementary provisions)(a);

(b) section 31(1A) of the 1999 Act (limits of the general power)(a);

(a) 1996 c. 61. Paragraph 9(8) of Schedule 2 was amended by paragraph 43 of Schedule 22 to the 2011 Act.

Page 32



(c) section 38 of the 1999 Act (delegation)(b);

(d) section 60A(3) of the 1999 Act (confirmation hearings etc for certain appointments by the
Mayor)(c);

(e) section 68(6) of the 1999 Act (disqualification and political restriction)(d);
(f) section 73 of the 1999 Act (monitoring officer)(e);

(g) section 403B of the 1999 Act (acquisition of land by MDC and TfL for shared
purposes)(f);
(h) section 424 of the 1999 Act (interpretation)(g);

(i) section 24(4) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (conformity with
spatial development strategy)(h); and

(j) paragraph 8(8)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Crossrail Act 2008 (works: further and
supplementary provisions)(i).

(7) In this regulation “transfer scheme” means a transfer scheme under section 200(1) or (4) or
216(1) of the 2011 Act.

Mayoral development corporation: incidental provisions

13.—(1) The following provisions of the 1989 Act apply in relation to a Corporation as if it were a
local authority—

(a) section 1 (disqualification and political restriction of certain officers and staff)(j), and

(b) sections 2 and 3A (politically restricted posts and exemptions from restriction) so far as
they have effect for the purposes of section 1.

(2) Section 5 of the 1989 Act (designation and reports of monitoring officer)(k) applies in
relation to the Combined County Authority as if a Corporation were a committee of the Combined
County Authority.

(3) Section 32 of the 2003 Act applies in relation to expenditure of a Corporation as if—

@
(b)

©

(d)
()

0]
()

(h)

(M

o

)

Section 31 was amended by section 186 of, and paragraphs 44 and 45 of Schedule 22 and Parts 31 and 32 of Schedule 25 to,
the 2011 Act, section 33 of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and by S.I. 2012/1530.

Section 38 was amended by paragraphs 36 and 37 of Schedule 19, paragraphs 4 and 5 of Schedule 20, paragraphs 44 and 46
of Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act, section 28 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 (c. 27) and
article 2 of S.1. 2012/1530.

Section 60A was inserted by section 4 of the Greater London Authority Act 2007 (c. 24) and amended by section 224 of the
Planning Act 2008 (c. 29), section 20 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, paragraphs 44 and 47 of
Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act and articles 1, 2 and 36 of S.I. 2008/2038.

Section 68 was amended by paragraphs 44 and 48 of Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act.

Section 73 was amended by sections 7 and 9 of, and Schedule 2 to, the Greater London Authority Act 2007, paragraph 16 of
Part 2 of Schedule 12 to the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, paragraphs 36 and 38 of
Schedule 19, paragraphs 44 and 49 of Schedule 22, Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009 (c. 20) and paragraphs 1 and 5 of Part 1 to the Schedule to S.I. 2000/1435.

Section 403B was inserted by section 36(1) and (2) of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017.

Section 424 was amended by section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006 (c. 46), sections 11, 12, 21, 22 of the Greater London
Authority Act 2007, section 3 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and paragraphs 44 and 52 of
Schedule 22 and Part 32 of Schedule 25 to the 2011 Act.

2004 c. 5. Section 24 was amended by paragraph 15 of Schedule 5 and paragraph 1 of Part 4 of Schedule 7 to the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and by paragraphs 54 and 55 of Schedule 22 to the 2011
Act.

2008 c. 18. Paragraph 8 of Schedule 2 to the Crossrail Act 2008 was amended by paragraph 58 of Schedule 22 to the 2011
Act.

Section 1 was amended by section 80 of the Local Government Act 1972 (c. 70), Part 3 of Schedule 1 to the House of
Commons Disqualification Act 1975 (c. 24), paragraphs 199 and 200 of Part 2 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and
Social Responsibility Act 2011 and by section 123 of and paragraph 61 of Schedule 1 to the Policing and Crime Act 2017
(c.3).

Section 5 was amended by Part 1 of Schedule 4 to the Police and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1994 (c. 29), paragraph 1 of
Schedule 7 to the Police Act 1996 (c. 16), section 132 of the 1999 Act, paragraph 24 of Schedule 5 to the Local Government
Act 2000 (c. 22), paragraph 14 of Part 2 to Schedule 12 and Part 14 of Schedule 18 to the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007, paragraphs 12 and 13 of Schedule 14 and Part 4 of Schedule 22 to the Marine and Coastal
Access Act 2009 (c. 23), paragraphs 199 and 202 of Part 3 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility
Act 2011, sections 6 and 9 of and paragraph 63 of Schedule 1 and paragraph 88 of Schedule 2 to the Policing and Crime Act
2017 and articles 1(2), 2(I) and 23(1)(a) to (f) of SI 2001/2237.

Page 33



(a) each reference to a functional body were a reference to a Corporation;

(b) each reference to the Greater London Authority were a reference to the Combined County
Authority;

(c) each reference to the Mayor of London were a reference to the Mayor; and
(d) subsection (7) were omitted.

PART 6
Transport

Local transport functions under the Transport Act 1985

14.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils specified in Parts 4 (local passenger transport
services) and 5 (financial provisions) of the Transport Act 1985(a) are exercisable by the Combined
County Authority in relation to the Area.

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), the functions specified in—
(a) sections 57 to 62; and
(b) sections 80 to 87,

of the Transport Act 1985 are exercisable by the Combined County Authority instead of by the
constituent councils.

(3) During the transition period the functions mentioned in paragraph (2) are exercisable by the
Combined County Authority concurrently with the constituent councils.

(4) Subject to paragraph (5), the functions specified in—
(a) sections 63 and 64;
(b) sections 65 to 71;
(c) sections 72 to 76;
(d) sections 78 and 79;
(e) sections 88 to 92;
(f) sections 93 to 101;
(g) sections 103 to 105; and
(h) sections 106 and 106A(b),

of the Transport Act 1985 are exercisable by the Combined County Authority concurrently with
the constituent councils.

(5) Any exercise of the functions mentioned in paragraph (4)(a), (d) and (f) requires the consent
of each constituent council in whose area it is proposed that the functions are to be exercised.

Local transport functions under the Transport Act 2000

15.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as local transport authorities specified in Part 2
of the 2000 Act (local transport) are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation to
the Area.

(2) Subject to paragraphs (3) to (5), the functions specified in—
(a) sections 108 and 109(c);

(a) 1985c.67.

(b) Section 106A was inserted by section 27 of the Local Government and Rating Act 1997 (c. 29).

(c) Section 108 was amended by section 3 of and paragraph 2 of the Schedule to the Transport (Wales) Act 2006 (c. 5);
sections 7 to 9, 77 and 131 of and paragraphs 41 and 42 of Schedule 4 to and Part 1 of Schedule 7 to the Local Transport
Act 2008; and by section 119 and paragraph 96 of Schedule 6 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009. Section 109 was amended by section 3 of and paragraph 3 of the Schedule to the Transport (Wales)

Page 34



(b) sections 112 and 113;

(c) sections 113C to 123(a);

(d) sections 123A to 123X(b);

(e) sections 138A to 143B(c); and
(f) sections 152 to 162,

of the 2000 Act are exercisable by the Combined County Authority instead of by the constituent
councils.

(3) During the transition period—

(a) the exercise of the functions mentioned in paragraph (2)(a) and (b) by the Combined
County Authority requires a unanimous vote in favour by all members of the Combined
County Authority appointed by the constituent councils, or substitute members acting in
place of those members, to be carried at a meeting of the Combined County Authority;

(b) the functions mentioned in paragraph (2)(c) to (f) are exercisable by the Combined
County Authority concurrently with the constituent councils.

(4) The functions mentioned in paragraph (2)(a) and (b) are subject to the following
modifications—

(@) in section 108(1)(b), the reference to “those policies” is a reference to the policies
developed under section 108(1)(a) of the 2000 Act;

(b) in section 108(3B), the reference to “their plan” is a reference to the local transport plan
prepared under section 108(3); and

(c) in section 109(4), the reference to “their local transport plan” is a reference to the local
transport plan prepared under section 108(3),

in accordance with the functions conferred on the Combined County Authority by paragraph (1) of
this regulation.

(5) Any exercise of the functions mentioned in paragraph (2)(d) requires the consent of each
constituent council in whose area it is proposed that the functions are to be exercised.

(6) The functions specified in—
(a) sections 134C to 138(d);
(b) section 145A(e);

(c) section 146; and
(d) sections 148 to 150,

of the 2000 Act, are exercisable by the Combined County Authority concurrently with the
constituent councils.

Agreements between authorities and strategic highways companies

16.—(1) The following functions are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation to
the Area—

(a) the functions of the constituent councils specified in section 6 of the 1980 Act (powers to
enter into agreements with the Minister or strategic highways companies relating to the
exercise of functions with respect to trunk roads etc) (a);

Act 2006, section 9 of the Local Transport Act 2000, and by section 119 of and paragraph 97 of Schedule 6 to the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. Section 112 was amended by sections 10, 11 and 131 of
and Part 1 of Schedule 7 to the Local Transport Act 2008, and by section 222 of and paragraph 48 of Schedule 26 to the
Equality Act 2010.

(a) Sections 113C to 1130 were inserted by section 1 of the Bus Services Act 2017 (c. 21).

(b) Sections 123A to 123X were inserted by section 4 of the Bus Services Act 2017.

(c) Sections 138A to 138S were inserted by section 9 of the Bus Services Act 2017. Sections 141A, 143A and 143B were
inserted by sections 18(1), 5 and 10 (respectively) of that Act.

(d) Sections 134C to 134G were inserted by section 7 of the Bus Services Act 2017.

(e) Section 145A was inserted by section 1 of the Concessionary Bus Travel Act 2007 (c. 13).

Paga 35



(b) the functions of the constituent councils as local highway authorities specified in section
8 of the 1980 Act (power to enter into agreements with local highway authorities and
strategic highways companies for the doing of certain works) (b).

(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable concurrently with the constituent
councils.

(3) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each
constituent council in whose area it is proposed that the functions are to be exercised.

Civil enforcement of road traffic contraventions

17.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as enforcement authorities specified in the
following enactments are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation to the
enforcement area comprising the civil enforcement areas of the constituent councils—

(a) Part 6 (civil enforcement of road traffic contraventions) of, and paragraph 10 (designation
of civil enforcement areas for moving traffic contraventions) of Schedule 8 (civil
enforcement areas and enforcement authorities outside Greater London) to, the 2004 Act;

(b) the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Approved Devices, Charging
Guidelines and General Provisions) (England) Regulations 2022(c);

(c) the Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and Appeals)
(England) Regulations 2022(d).

(2) The functions are exercisable by the Combined County Authority (in relation to the
enforcement area) concurrently with each constituent council (in relation to its civil enforcement
area).

(3) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each
constituent council in whose area it is proposed that the functions are to be exercised.

(4) In this regulation—

(@) “civil enforcement area” means an area designated as a civil enforcement area under Part
2 of Schedule 8 to the 2004 Act (civil enforcement areas and enforcement authorities
outside Greater London) which falls within the Area;

(b) “enforcement area” means the area comprising the civil enforcement areas of the
constituent councils;

(c) “enforcement authority” means an enforcement authority for the purposes of Part 6 of the
2004 Act pursuant to paragraph 10(5) of Schedule 8 to that Act.

Workplace parking levy
18.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as licensing authorities specified in the
following enactments are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation to the Area—
(&) Chapters 2 and 3 of Part 3 of the 2000 Act (workplace parking levy);
(b) the Workplace Parking Levy (England) Regulations 2009(e).

(2) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable by the Combined County
Authority concurrently with the constituent councils.

(3) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraph (1) requires the consent of each
constituent council in whose area it is proposed that the function is to be exercised.

(@) Section 6 was amended by paragraph 4 of Schedule 4 to the Local Government Act 1985 (c. 51), by paragraph 2 of
Schedule 7 to the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c. 19), by paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 2015
(c. 7), and by S.1. 1995/1986.

(b) Section 8 was amended paragraph 5 of Schedule 4 to the Local Government Act 1985, by paragraph 3 of Schedule 7 to the
Local Government (Wales) Act 1994, and by by paragraph 8 of Schedule 1 to the Infrastructure Act 2015.

(c) S.I.2022/71, amended by S.I. 2022/686.

(d) S.I.2022/576.

(e) S.1.2009/2085.

Page 36



(4) In paragraph (1), “licensing authority” has the meaning given by section 178(6)(a) of the
2000 Act (preliminary).

Grants to bus service operators

19.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) to (4), the function of the Secretary of State set out in section
154(1) of the 2000 Act (grants to bus service operators) is exercisable by the Combined County
Authority in relation to the Area.

(2) For the purpose of paragraph (1), section 154 of the 2000 Act has effect as if—

(a) insubsection (1), “with the approval of the Treasury (as respects England)” were omitted,;
and

(b) insubsection (3), for “with the approval of the Treasury (as respects England)” there were
substituted “and notified to the Combined County Authority”.

(3) Grants made under paragraph (1) must be calculated in accordance with such method as may
be provided by any regulations made by the Secretary of State by virtue of section 154(2) of the
2000 Act

(4) Grants must not be made under paragraph (1) to the extent that eligible bus services operate
outside the Area.

(5) The function mentioned in paragraph (1) is exercisable concurrently with the Secretary of
State in relation to the Area.

(6) Any exercise by the Combined Authorities of the functions conferred by paragraph (4),
“eligible bus services” has the meaning given by section 154(5) of the 2000 Act.

Permit schemes

20.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils as local highway authorities specified in the
following provisions of the 2004 Act are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation
to the Area—

(a) section 33 (preparation of permit schemes)(a);

(b) section 33A (implementation of permit schemes of strategic highways companies and
local highway authorities in England)(b);

(c) section 36 (variation and revocation of permit schemes)(c).

(2) The functions of the constituent councils as Permit Authorities specified in the 2007
Regulations are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation to the Area.

(3) The functions mentioned in paragraphs (1) and (2) are exercisable by the Combined County
Authority concurrently with the constituent councils.

(4) Part 3 of the 2004 Act (permit schemes) applies in relation to the preparation,
implementation, variation and revocation of permit schemes by the Combined County Authority
as it applies in relation to the preparation, implementation, variation and revocation of permit
schemes by a constituent council as a local highway authority, subject to the modifications in
Schedule 4 to these Regulations.

(5) References in the 2007 Regulations to a Permit Authority are to be read as including
references to the Combined County Authority.

(6) Any exercise of the functions conferred by paragraphs (1) and (2) requires the consent of
each constituent council in whose area it is proposed that the functions are to be exercised.

(7) In this regulation—

(a) Section 33 was amended by paragraph 5 of Schedule 10 to the Deregulation Act 2015 (c. 20).
(b) Section 33A was inserted by paragraph 6 of Schedule 10 to the Deregulation Act 2015.
(c) Section 36 was substituted by paragraph 8 of Schedule 10 to the Deregulation Act 2015.

Page 37



(&) “the 2007 Regulations” means the Traffic Management Permit Scheme (England)
Regulations 2007(a);

(b) “Permit Authority” has the same meaning as in regulation 2(1) of the 2007 Regulations;
and

(c) “permit scheme” is to be construed in accordance with section 32 of the 2004 Act
(meaning of “permit schemes”).

Power to pay grant

21.—(1) The functions of a Minister of the Crown specified in section 31 of the 2003 Act (power
to pay grant) are functions of the Combined County Authority that are exercisable in relation to the
Area.

(2) The functions are exercisable by the Combined County Authority concurrently with a
Minister of the Crown.

(3) Paragraph (4) applies where, further to the exercise of any function referred to in paragraph
(1), the Combined County Authority determines an amount of grant to be paid towards
expenditure incurred or to be incurred by a constituent council in relation to the exercise of its
highway functions.

(4) In determining the amount referred to in paragraph (3), the Combined County Authority
must have regard to the desirability of ensuring that the constituent council has sufficient funds to
facilitate the effective discharge of the functions referred to in paragraph (3).

(5) To comply with paragraph (4), the Combined County Authority must take into account any
other sources of funding available to the constituent council for expenditure incurred or to be
incurred in relation to the exercise of its highway functions.

(6) For the purposes of the exercise by the Combined County Authority of the functions
specified in paragraph (1), section 31 of the 2003 Act has effect as if—

(&) insubsection (1)—

(i) the reference to a Minister of the Crown were a reference to the Combined County
Authority;

(ii) the reference to a local authority in England were a reference to a constituent
council;

(b) subsection (2) were omitted;

(c) insubsections (3) and (4), the references to the person paying the grant were references to
the Combined County Authority;

(d) subsection (6) were omitted.

(7) In this regulation “highway functions” means functions exercisable by a constituent council
(in whatever capacity) in relation to the highways for which it is the highway authority.

PART 7

Health functions

Public health functions

22.—(1) Section 2B(1) of the 2006 Act (functions of local authorities and Secretary of State as to
improvement of public health)(b) applies to the Combined County Authority as it applies to the
constituent councils.

(@) S.1.2007/3372, amended by S.I. 2015/958, S.1. 2020/122 and S.1. 2022/831.
(b) Section 2B was inserted by section 12 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c. 7).

Page 38



(2) The functions referred to in paragraph (1) are exercisable concurrently with the constituent
councils.

Duty to have regard to documents and guidance

23. Subsection (1) of section 73B of the 2006 Act (exercise of public health functions of local
authorities: further provision)(a) applies to the Combined County Authority as it applies to the
constituent councils in the exercise of the functions mentioned in subsection (2) of that section.

Application of section 75 of the 2006 Act

24.—(1) Save as provided by section 75(7G) to (7J)(b), section 75 of the 2006 Act (arrangements
between NHS bodies and local authorities), and regulations made under that section before the
coming into force of these Regulations, apply to the Combined County Authority in the exercise of
its public health functions as those provisions apply to the constituent councils.

(2) But where the Combined County Authority enters into prescribed arrangements by virtue of
section 75(71) and (7J) of the 2006 Act, and is thus treated as an NHS body in relation to those
prescribed arrangements, it may not enter into those same prescribed arrangements in relation to
the exercise of its public health functions, unless, and to the extent that, it is permitted to do so by
regulations made under section 75(1) of the 2006 Act.

(3) In this regulation—

(a) “NHS body” is to be construed in accordance with sections 75(8) and 275 of the 2006 Act
©)

(b) “prescribed arrangements” is to be construed in accordance with section 75 of the 2006
Act;

(c) “public health functions” means functions exercisable by virtue of regulation 22 of these
Regulations.

Duty to have regard to NHS Constitution

25.—(1) Section 2(1) of the Health Act 2009 (duty to have regard to NHS Constitution)(d) applies
to the Combined County Authority in the exercise of any health service function as it applies to the
constituent councils in the exercise of any health service function.

(2) In paragraph (1), “health service function” has the meaning given by section 2(3) of the
Health Act 2009(e).

PART 8

Mayoral functions

Functions exercisable only by the Mayor

26.—(1) The following functions of the Combined County Authority are general functions
exercisable only by the Mayor—

(@) Section 73B was inserted by section 31 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c. 7) and amended by paragraph 9 of
Schedule 9 to the Health and Care Act 2022 (c. 31).

(b) Section 75(7A) to (7F) were inserted by paragraph 6 of Schedule 4 to the Cities and Local Government Devolution Act
2016 (c. 1) and subsection (7B) was amended by section 71(3) of the Health and Care Act 2022. Section 75(7G) to (7J)
were inserted by paragraph 168 of Schedule 4 to the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023.

(c) The definition of “NHS body” in section 275 was inserted by paragraph 138 of Schedule 4 to the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 and amended by paragraph 11(b) of Schedule 1 and paragraph 132(d) of Schedule 4 to the Health and Care Act
2022.

(d) 2009 c. 21. Section 2(1) was amended by paragraph 175(2) of Schedule 5 to the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

(e) Section 2(3) was amended by paragraphs 174(b) and 175(4) of Schedule 5 to the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Page 39



(@) section 17(3) of the 1985 Act;
(b) section 226 of the 1990 Act;

(c) sections 108 (local transport plans), 109 (further provision about plans: England), 112
(plans and strategies: supplementary) and 154(1) (grants to bus service operators) of the
2000 Act(a);

(d) section 31 of the 2003 Act;
(e) section 9(2) of the 2008 Act;

(f) in relation to the functions conferred by regulation 29 (conferral of Business Rate
Supplements functions), the BRS Act;

(g) sections 197, 199, 200, 202, 204, 214 to 217 and 219 to 221 of, and paragraphs 1 to 4, 6
and 8 of Schedule 21 to, the 2011 Act.

(2) Any exercise by the Mayor of the general functions mentioned in paragraph (1) which results
in a financial liability falling on a constituent council requires the consent of the lead member of
that council.

(3) The Combined County Authority may agree with the Mayor consent requirements relating to
the exercise by the Mayor of the general functions mentioned in paragraph (1).

(4) Any exercise by the Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in
section 17(3) of the 1985 Act (acquisition of land for housing purposes), section 226 of the 1990
Act (compulsory acquisition of land for development and other planning purposes) section 9(2) of
the 2008 Act (acquisition of land), and section 197(1) of the 2011 Act (designation of Mayoral
development areas) requires the consent of—

(@) the lead member for any constituent council whose area contains any part of the land
subject to the proposed compulsory acquisition, or a substitute member acting in place of
such a member,

(b) each district council whose local government area contains any part of the area to be
designated as a Mayoral development area, and

(c) the Peak District National Park Authority if the Combined County Authority proposes to
exercise the function in respect of the whole or any part of the area of the Peak District
National Park.

(5) Any exercise by the Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in
section 199(1) of the 2011 Act (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas) in respect of
any Mayoral development area requires the consent of each member of the Combined County
Authority designated under paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 1 by a constituent council whose local
government area contains any part of the area to be excluded from a Mayoral development area or
substitute members acting in place of those members.

(6) Any exercise by the Mayor of the functions corresponding to the functions contained in
section 202(2) to (4) of the 2011 Act (functions in relation to town and country planning) in
respect of any Mayoral development area requires the consent of—

(@) the lead members of the Combined County Authority designated under paragraph 1(3) of
Schedule 1 whose local government area contains any part of the area to be designated as
a Mayoral development area or substitute members acting in place of those members,

(b) each district council whose local government area contains any part of the area to be
designated as a Mayoral development area, and

(a) 2000 c. 38. Section 108 was amended by CAs with MDC functions have the NPA consent requirement (e.g. West
Yorkshire).section 3 of and paragraph 2 of the Schedule to the Transport (Wales) Act 2006 (c. 5); sections 7 to 9, 77 and
131 of and paragraphs 41 and 42 of Schedule 4 to and Part 1 of Schedule 7 to the Local Transport Act 2008; and by section
119 and paragraph 96 of Schedule 6 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. Section
109 was amended by section 3 of and paragraph 3 of the Schedule to the Transport (Wales) Act 2006, section 9 of the Local
Transport Act 2000, and by section 119 of and paragraph 97 of Schedule 6 to the Local Democracy, Economic
Development and Construction Act 2009. Section 112 was amended by sections 10, 11 and 131 of and Part 1 of Schedule 7
to the Local Transport Act 2008, and by section 222 of and paragraph 48 of Schedule 26 to the Equality Act 2010.

Page 40



(c) the Peak District National Park Authority if the Combined County Authority proposes to
exercise the functions in respect of the whole or any part of the area of the Peak District
National Park.

(7) In respect of the exercise of the functions conferred by sections 108, 109 and 112 of the 2000
Act—

(a) the Mayor must consult the Combined County Authority; and

(b) the members of the Combined County Authority may amend plans made pursuant to
sections 108, 109, and 112 of the 2000 Act if agreed by a two thirds majority of the
members, or substitute members acting in their place, of the Combined County Authority
present and voting on the question at a meeting of the authority.

(8) For the purpose of paragraphs (2), (4)(a), (5), (6)(a), and (7) the consent must be given at a
meeting of the Combined County Authority.

(9) For the purposes of the exercise of the general functions mentioned in paragraph (1) the
members and officers may assist the Mayor in the exercise of the function.

(10) For the purposes of the exercise of the general functions mentioned in paragraph (1) the
Mayor may do anything that the Combined County Authority may do under section 49 of the 2023
Act (general power of CCA).

(11) The Mayor must not make arrangements under section 30(3)(b) of the 2023 Act (functions
of mayors: general) in relation to the functions specified in paragraph (1), in relation to a political
adviser appointed under regulation 6.

Joint committees

27.—(1) The Mayor may enter into arrangements jointly with the Combined County Authority,
the constituent councils and other councils in accordance with section 101(5) of the Local
Government Act 1972(a) for the discharge of the general functions of the Combined County
Authority which are exercisable only by the Mayor pursuant to regulation 26.

(2) In this regulation “other council” means the council for a county or district in England.

PART 9
Funding

Funding

28.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (5), the constituent councils must ensure that the costs of
the Combined County Authority reasonably attributable to the exercise of its functions are met.

(2) Subject to paragraph (4), the constituent councils must meet the costs of the expenditure
reasonably incurred by the Mayor in, or in connection with, the exercise of the functions referred
to in regulation 26(1), to the extent that the Mayor has not decided to meet these costs from other
resources available to the Combined County Authority.

(3) Any amount payable by each of the constituent councils in accordance with paragraphs (1)
and (2) are met is to be determined by apportioning such costs between the constituent councils in
such proportions as they may agree or, in default of such agreement, in equal proportions.

(4) In relation to the expenditure mentioned in paragraph (2)—

(a) to the extent to which such expenditure is met by amounts payable under arrangements
made under paragraph (3)—

(a) 1972.c.70.

Page 41



(i) the Mayor must agree with the Combined County Authority the total expenditure
mentioned in paragraph (2) in advance of incurring this expenditure, and

(i) in the absence of the agreement specified in paragraph (i), no such expenditure may
be incurred;

(b) any precept issued in relation to such expenditure under section 40 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992(a) is to be disregarded from any calculation of the costs of
the expenditure.

(5) The costs of the Combined County Authority reasonably attributable to the exercise of its
functions relating to transport may be met by means of a levy issued by the Combined County
Authority to the constituent councils under section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act
1988(b) and in accordance with the Transport Levying Bodies Regulations 1992(c).

Conferral of Business Rate Supplements functions

29. The Combined County Authority has, in relation to the Area, functions corresponding to the
functions conferred on the Greater London Authority in relation to Greater London by the BRS Act,
except for the functions conferred by section 3(5) (use of money raised by a BRS) of that Act.

Application of BRS Act in consequence of regulation 30
30. For the purposes of regulation 29, the BRS Act applies to the Combined County Authority as
if —

(a) references to the Greater London Authority in section 2(1) (levying authorities) and in
section 5(2) (prospectus) of the BRS Act included references to the Combined County
Authority;

(b) references in that Act to a lower-tier authority were, in relation to the Combined County
Authority, references to a district council.

PART 10
Additional functions

Assessment of economic conditions

31.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils in section 69 of the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (duty to prepare an assessment of economic
conditions)(d) are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in relation to the Area.

(2) The function referred to in paragraph (1) is exercisable concurrently with the constituent
councils.

(3) Any requirement in any enactment for a constituent council to exercise the function referred
to in paragraph (1) may be fulfilled by the exercise of that function by the Combined County
Authority.

(4) The provision referred to in paragraph (1) applies to the Combined County Authority as it
applies to a constituent council.

(a) 1992 c. 14. Section 40 was amended by section 83 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999, section 79 of and paragraph 7
of Schedule 17 to the Localism Act 2011 and section 5 of the Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016.

(b) 1988 c. 41. There are also amendments to section 74.

(c) S.I.1992/2789, to which there are amendments not relevant to these Regulations.

(d) 2009 c. 20.

Page 42



Data sharing

32.—(1) The functions of the constituent councils described in section 17A of the Crime and
Disorder Act 1998 (sharing of information)(a) are exercisable by the Combined County Authority in
relation to the Area.

(2) The Combined County Authority is a relevant authority for the purposes of section 115 of
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (disclosure of information)(b).

(3) The functions mentioned in paragraph (1) are exercisable concurrently with the constituent
councils.

Incidental provisions

33.The following provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 have effect in relation to the
Combined County Authority as if it were a local authority—

(a) section 113 (power to place staff at the disposal of other local authorities)(c);

(b) section 142(2) (power to arrange for publication of information etc relating to the
functions of the authority)(d);

(c) section 144 (power to encourage visitors and provide conference and other facilities)(e);
(d) section 145 (provision of entertainments)(f);
(e) section 222 (power to prosecute and defend legal proceedings).

34.—(1) The Combined County Authority has the power to exercise any of the functions
described in subsection (1)(a) and (b) of section 88 of the Local Government Act 1985 (research and
collection of information)(g) whether or not a scheme is made under that section.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1), section 88(1) of the Local Government Act 1985 has
effect as if a reference to “that area” were a reference to the Area.

35.—(1) Section 13 of the 1989 Act (voting rights of members of certain committees)(h) has
effect in relation to the Combined County Authority as if—

() insubsection (4), after paragraph (h) there were inserted—

@
(b)

(d)
®

®
(9)
(h)

1998 c. 37. Section 17A was inserted by paragraph 5 of Schedule 9 to the Police and Justice Act 2006 (c. 48) and amended
by paragraph 45 of Schedule 19 to the Data Protection Act 2018 (c.12).

Section 115 was amended by paragraph 151 of Part 2 of Schedule 7 to the Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000 (c.
43); by section 97 of the Police Reform Act 2002 (c. 30); by section 219 of the Housing Act 2004 (c. 34); by paragraph 7 of
Schedule 9 to the Police and Justice Act 2006; by section 29 of the Transport for London Act 2008 (c. i); by paragraph 238
of Part 3 of Schedule 16 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13); by paragraph 90 of Schedule 5 to
the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c. 7); by paragraph 80 of Schedule 1 and paragraph 106 of Schedule 2 to the Policing
and Crime Act 2017 (c. 3); by paragraph 1(1) of Schedule 1 and paragraph 57 of Schedule 4 to the Health and Care Act
2022 (c. 31); and by S.1. 2000/90, 2002/2469, 2007/961, 2008/912, 2010/866, 2013/602.

Section 113 was amended by paragraph 151 of Schedule 4 to the National Health Service Reorganisation Act 1973 (c. 32);
by paragraph 13 of Schedule 9 to the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 (c. 19); by paragraph 18 of
Schedule 4 to the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 (c. 43); by paragraph 4 of Schedule
3 to the Health Protection Agency Act 2004 (c. 17); by paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 1 to the National Health Service
(Consequential Provisions) Act 2006 (c. 43); by paragraph 17 of Schedule 5, paragraph 3 of Schedule 7, and paragraph 3 of
Schedule 17 to the Health and Social Care Act 2012; by paragraph 1(2) of Schedule 1 and paragraph 11(2) and (3) of
Schedule 4 to the Health and Care Act 2022; and by S.I. 2000/90, 2002/2469, 2007/961. It is prospectively amended by
paragraph 45 of Schedule 14 to the Health and Social Care Act 2012 from a date and time to be appointed.

Subsection (2) was amended by section 3(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 1986 (c. 10).

Section 144 was amended by Schedule 2 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (c. 57); by section
190 of the Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 (c. 65); and by Schedule 17 to the Local Government Act 1985.

Section 145 was amended by paragraph 59 of Schedule 6 to the Licensing Act 2003 (c. 17).

1985 c. 51.

Section 13 was amended by paragraph 156 of Schedule 19 and paragraph 96 of Schedule 37(1) to the Education Act 1993
(c. 35); by paragraph 36 of Part 1 of Schedule 4 and Part 1 of Schedule 9 to the Police and Magistrates' Courts Act 1994 (c.
29); by Schedule 24 to the Environment Act 1995 (c. 25); by paragraph 96 of Schedule 37 to the Education Act 1996 (c.
56); by paragraph 22 of Schedule 30 to the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (c. 31); by Part 4 of Schedule 5 to
the Children Act 2004 (c. 31); by paragraph 81 of Schedule 6 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 (c. 20); by paragraph 14 of Schedule 14 and by Part 4 of Schedule 22 to the Marine and Coastal
Access Act 2009 (c. 23); by paragraph 15 of Schedule 8 to the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (c. 25); by paragraph 12 of
Schedule 5 to the Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016; by section 7 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 (c.
3); and by S.I. 2001/1517, 2010/1158.

Page 43


https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6E6D04807D2211DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.DocLink%29&comp=wluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I01D858707D2111DB9833E1CC4921FF0C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I87D6EC507CF611DB8CB9C33D1B0B4462/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)

“(i) subject to subsection (4A), a committee appointed by the East Midlands Combined
County Authority;”;

(b) after subsection (4) there were inserted—

“(4A) A person who is a member of a committee falling within paragraph (i) of
subsection (4) or a sub-committee appointed by such a committee is for all purposes to be
treated as a non-voting member of that committee or sub-committee unless that person is a
member of one of the constituent councils as defined by regulation 2 of the East Midlands
Combined County Authority Regulations 2023.”.

36.In Part 2 of Schedule 3 (pension funds) to the Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations 2013(a) in the table insert at the end—

“An employee of the East Midlands Nottinghamshire County Council”.
Combined County Authority established by

the East Midlands Combined County

Authority Order 2023

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

Name
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State
Date Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities

SCHEDULE 1 Regulation 4
Constitution

Membership

1.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the Combined County Authority is to have eight members in
addition to the Mayor as provided for in the following sub-paragraphs.

(2) Each of the constituent councils must appoint two of its elected members to act as members
of the Combined County Authority.

(3) Each constituent council must designate one of the members appointed under sub-paragraph
(2) to act as lead member.

(4) Each constituent council must appoint another two of its elected members to act as a member
of the Combined County Authority in the absence of either of the members appointed under sub-
paragraph (2) (“the substitute member”).

(5) A person ceases to be a member or substitute member of the Combined County Authority if
they cease to be a member of the constituent council that appointed them.

(6) A person may resign as a member or substitute member of the Combined County Authority
by written notice served on the proper officer of the constituent council that appointed them, and
the resignation takes effect on receipt of the notice by the proper officer of the council.

(7) Where a member or substitute member of the Combined County Authority’s appointment
ceases by virtue of sub-paragraph (5) or (6) the constituent council that made the appointment
must, as soon as practicable, give written notice of that fact to the Combined County Authority
and appoint another of its elected members in that person’s place.

(8) A constituent council may at any time terminate the appointment of a member or substitute
member appointed by it to the Combined County Authority and appoint another one of its elected
members in that person’s place.

(a) S.I.2013/2356, amended by S.I. 2015/755; there are other amending instruments but none is relevant.

Page 44



(9) Where a constituent council exercises its power under sub-paragraph (8), it must give written
notice of the new appointment and the termination of the previous appointment to the Combined
County Authority and the new appointment takes effect and the previous appointment terminate at
the end of one week from the date on which the notice is given or such longer period not
exceeding one month as is specified in the notice.

(10) For the purposes of this paragraph, an elected mayor of a constituent council is to be treated
as a member of the constituent council.

Non-constituent and associate members

2.—(1) The Combined County Authority must have no more than eight non-constituent members
and associate members.

(2) Each nominating body of the Combined County Authority must nominate another person to
act as the member of the Combined County Authority in the absence of the member appointed
under section 11(3) of the 2023 Act (non-constituent members of a CCA).

(3) An associate member appointed under section 12(1) of the 2023 Act (associate members of a
CCA) must nominate another person to act as a member of the Combined County Authority in
their absence.

Proceedings

3.—(1) Subject to the following sub-paragraphs, any questions that are to be decided by the
Combined County Authority are to be decided by a majority of the members and substitute
members, acting in place of members, present and voting on that question at a meeting of the
Combined County Authority and such majority is to include the Mayor, or the deputy Mayor acting
in place of the Mayor.

(2) No business may be transacted at a meeting of the Combined County Authority unless the
Mayor or the deputy mayor acting in place of the Mayor and at least three members of the
Combined County Authority appointed by constituent councils under paragraph 1(2) or the
substitute member acting in their place are present.

(3) Where the deputy mayor is acting in the place of the Mayor they cannot also act in their
capacity as a member of the Combined County Authority.

(4) Each constituent council member, or substitute member acting in that member’s place, and
the Mayor is to have one vote and no member, substitute member, or the Mayor is to have a
casting vote.

(5) If a vote is tied on any matter it is deemed not to have been carried.

(6) Questions relating to the following matters require the majority to include the lead member,
or substitute for that lead member acting in place of that member, appointed by the constituent
councils to be carried—

(&) approval or amendment of a budget;

(b) setting of any transport levy under section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988
and in accordance with regulations made thereunder; and

(c) such other plans and strategies as may be determined by the Combined County Authority
and set out in its standing orders.

(7) The proceedings of the Combined County Authority are not invalidated by any vacancy
among its members or substitute members or by any defect in the appointment or qualifications of
any member or substitute member.

Records

4.—(1) The Combined County Authority must make arrangements for the names of members and
substitute members present at any meeting to be recorded.

Paga 45



(2) Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Combined County Authority, or any
committee or sub-committee of the Combined County Authority, are to be kept in such form as the
Combined County Authority may determine.

(3) Any such minutes are to be signed at the same or next suitable meeting of the Combined
County Authority, committee or sub-committee as the case may be, by the person presiding at that
meeting.

(4) Any minute purporting to be signed as mentioned in sub-paragraph (3) is to be received in
evidence without further proof.

(5) Until the contrary is proved, a meeting of the Combined County Authority, committee or
sub-committee, a minute of whose proceedings has been signed in accordance with this paragraph,
is deemed to have been duly convened and held, and all the members and substitute members
present at the meeting are deemed to have been duly qualified.

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3) the next suitable meeting is the next following
meeting or, where standing orders made by the Combined County Authority provide for another
meeting of the authority, committee or sub-committee, to be regarded as suitable, either the next
following meeting or that other meeting.

Standing orders

5. The Combined County Authority may make standing orders for the regulation of its
proceedings and business and may vary or revoke any such orders.

Remuneration

6. Subject to paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 no remuneration is to be payable by the Combined County
Authority to its members, other than allowances for travel and subsistence paid in accordance with a
scheme drawn up by the Combined County Authority.

7.—(1) The Combined County Authority may establish an independent remuneration panel to
recommend a scheme to the Combined County Authority regarding the allowances payable to—
(@) the Mayor;

(b) the deputy mayor provided that the deputy mayor is not a leader or elected mayor of a
constituent council;

(c) independent persons appointed under article 5 of the Combined Authorities (Overview
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017(a);
and

(d) members of the overview and scrutiny committee and audit committee.
(2) An independent remuneration panel must consist of at least three members none of whom—

(@) is also a member of the Combined County Authority or is a member of a committee or
sub-committee of the Combined County Authority or a member of a constituent council
of the Combined County Authority or a member of a district council; or

(b) is disqualified from being or becoming a member of the Combined County Authority.

(3) The Combined County Authority may pay the expenses incurred by the independent
remuneration panel established under paragraph (1) in carrying out its functions and may pay the
members of the panel such allowances or expenses as the Combined County Authority may
determine.

8. The Combined County Authority may only pay an allowance to the people listed in paragraph
7(1)(a) to (d) if the Combined County Authority has —

(a) considered a report published by the independent remuneration panel established under
paragraph 7(1) which contains recommendations for such an allowance; and

(a) S.I.2017/68, as amended by S.I [thc]/2023.

Page 46



(b) approved a scheme for the payment of the allowance providing that scheme does not
provide for the payment of allowances of an amount in excess of the amount
recommended by the independent remuneration panel.

9. The Combined County Authority must consider a report from the independent remuneration
panel before approving a scheme under paragraph 7.

SCHEDULE 2 Regulation 10(5)

PART 1
Modification of the application of Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the 2008 Act

1.—(1) Chapters 1 and 2 of Part 1 of the 2008 Act apply in relation to the Combined County
Authority as modified in accordance with the following provisions.

(2) Sections 5 (powers to provide housing or other land), 6 (powers for regeneration,
development or effective use of land), 7 (powers in relation to infrastructure), 8 (powers to deal
with land etc), 9 (acquisition of land), 10 (restrictions on disposal of land) and 11 (main powers in
relation to acquired land) of, and Schedules 2 to 4 to, the 2008 Act, have effect as if for each
reference to—

(@) “the HCA” there were substituted a reference to “the Combined County Authority”;

(b) “Part 1” of that Act there were substituted a reference to “Part 4 of the East Midlands
Combined County Authority Regulations 2023”; and

(c) land acquired or held by the HCA there were substituted a reference to land acquired or
held by the Combined County Authority.

(3) Sections 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10 of the 2008 Act have effect as if for every reference to “land” there
were substituted a reference to “land in the area of the Combined County Authority”;

(4) Section 57(1) of the 2008 Act is to have effect as if before “develop” there were inserted—

““Combined County Authority” means the East Midlands Combined County Authority,
a body corporate established under the East Midlands Combined County Authority
Regulations 2023;”.

PART 2
Modification of the application of Schedules 2 to 4 to the 2008 Act

2.—(1) Schedules 2 to 4 to the 2008 Act apply in relation to the Combined County Authority as
modified in accordance with the following provisions.

(2) Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 2008 Act (compulsory acquisition of land) has effect as if for
each reference to “section 9” of that Act there were substituted a reference to “regulation 7 of the
East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023”;

(3) Schedule 3 to the 2008 Act (main powers in relation to land acquired by the HCA) is to have
effect as if for references to land which has been vested in or acquired by the HCA there were
substituted references to land which has been vested in or acquired by the Combined County
Authority.

(4) Schedule 4 to the 2008 Act (powers in relation to, and for, statutory undertakers) has effect
as if for each reference to the HCA in Part 1 of that Act there were substituted a reference to the
functions conferred on the Combined County Authority under regulation 7 of the East Midlands
Combined County Authority Regulations 2023.

Pags 47



SCHEDULE 3 Regulation 12(1)

Modification of the application of Part 8 of the 2011 Act

1.—(1) Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations) applies in
relation to the Combined County Authority as modified in accordance with the following provisions.

(2) Section 196 of the 2011 Act (interpretation of Chapter) has effect as if for the definitions of
“the Mayor” and “MDC” there were substituted—

““the Area” means the area of the Combined County Authority;

“the Combined County Authority” means the Combined County Authority, established
by the East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023;

“Corporation” means a corporation established by the Secretary of State in accordance
with the provisions in section 198 following the designation of an area of land by the
Combined County Authority;

“National Park” means the Peak District National Park(a); and
“National Park authority”” means a National Park authority for a National Park.”.
(3) Sections 197 to 222 of the 2011 Act have effect as if for each reference to—

(@) “the Greater London Authority” there were substituted “the Combined County
Authority”;

(b) “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Combined County Authority” except for the
occurrences in sections 197(3)(d) and (e), 199(2), 202(7)(a) and 214(4)(a); and

(c) “MDC” there were substituted “Corporation”.
(4) Section 197 of the 2011 Act (designation of Mayoral development areas) has effect as if—
() insubsection (1) for “Greater London” there were substituted “the Area”;

(b) in subsection (3)(a) for, “any one or more of the Greater London Authority’s principal
purposes”, there were substituted “economic development and regeneration in the Area”;

(c) insubsection (3)(d)—
(i) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of the Combined

County Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including substitute
members, acting in place of those members)”;

(i) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”; and
(iii) for “subsection (4)(d), (e), (f) or (g)” there were substituted “subsection (4)(d) or
(e)”;
(d) in subsection (3)(e)—
(i) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”; and

(if) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined County
Authority”;

(e) in subsection (3)(f) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined
County Authority”;

(f) in subsection (4)—

(i) in paragraph (a) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of
the Combined County Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils
(including substitute members, acting in place of those members)”;

(@) Column 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the National Park Authorities (England) Order 2015 (S.I. 2015/770) lists the National
Parks.

Page 48



(if) paragraph (b) were omitted;

(iii) in paragraph (d) for “each London borough council whose borough” there were
substituted “each district council whose local government area”;

(iv) in paragraph (e) for “the Common Council of the City of London if any part of the
area is within the City” there were substituted “a National Park authority if any part
of the area is within a National Park,”;

(v) paragraphs (f) and (g) were omitted;
(g) in subsection (5)—

(i) in paragraph (a) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined
County Authority”;

(if) in paragraph (b) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined
County Authority”;

(iii) in paragraph (b)(i) for “the Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined County
Authority”;

(iv) in paragraph (b)(ii) for “the Assembly members voting” there were substituted “all
members of the Combined County Authority who are appointed by the constituent
councils (including substitute members, acting in place of those members) present
and voting on that motion”;

(h) in subsection (6)(c) for “Mayoral development corporation” there were substituted
“Corporation”; and

(i) subsection (7) were omitted.

(5) Section 198 of the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations: establishment) has effect
as if—

(@ in the heading for “Mayoral development corporations” there were substituted
“Corporations”; and

(b) for every reference to “Mayoral development corporation” there were substituted
“Corporation”.

(6) Section 199 of the 2011 Act (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas) has effect
as if—

(@) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of the Combined
County Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including substitute
members, acting in place of those members)”’; and

(b) in subsection (2) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”.

(7) Section 200 of the 2011 Act (transfers of property etc to a Mayoral development
corporation) has effect as if—

(&) insubsection (3)—

(i) in paragraph (a), for “a London borough council” there were substituted “a district
council wholly or partly in the Area”;

(if) paragraph (b) were omitted;

(iii) in paragraphs (d) and (e), for “in Greater London” there were substituted “in the
Area”;

(iv) paragraph (k) were omitted;
(b) in subsection (4) paragraph (b) were omitted; and

(c) in subsection (10), the definitions of “functional body” and “public authority” were
omitted.

(8) Section 201 of the 2011 Act (object and powers) has effect as if subsection (8)(b) were
omitted.

(9) Section 202 of the 2011 Act (functions in relation to town and country planning) has effect
as if—

Pags 49



(a) insubsection (7)(a) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”;

(b) in subsection (7)(c) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the members of
the Combined County Authority who are appointed by the constituent councils (including
substitute members, acting in place of those members)”, and

(c) in the definition of “affected local authority” for “(d), (e), (f) or (g)” substitute “(d) or
(e),ﬁ' “.
(10) Section 203 of the 2011 Act (arrangements for discharge of, or assistance with, planning
functions) has effect as if—

(@) for each reference to “a London borough council or the Common Council of the City of
London” there were substituted “a district council, county council or a National Park
authority”; and

(b) in subsections (1) and (5), for each reference to “council” there were substituted “council
or National Park Authority”.

(11) Section 207 of the 2011 Act (acquisition of land) has effect as if—
(@) insubsection (2) for “in Greater London” there were substituted “in the Area”; and

(b) in subsection (3) for “the Mayor of London” there were substituted “the Combined
County Authority”.

(12) Section 214 of the 2011 Act (powers in relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic
rates) has effect as if—

(a) insubsection (4)(a) for “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Mayor for the Area”;

(b) in subsection (4)(c) for “the London Assembly or an affected local authority” there were
substituted “the members of the Combined County Authority who are appointed by the
constituent councils (including substitute members, acting in place of those members) or
a district council wholly or partly in the Area”; and

(c) insubsection (4) the definition of “affected local authority” were omitted.
(13) Section 216 of the 2011 Act (transfers of property, rights and liabilities) has effect as if—
() insubsection (2) «, (e)” were omitted; and
(b) insubsection (4)—
(i) the definition of “functional body” were omitted; and
(i) in the definition of “permitted recipient”—
(aa) paragraph (b) were omitted,

(bb) in paragraph (d) for “a London borough council” there were substituted “a
district council within the Area”, and

(cc) paragraph (e) were omitted.
(14) Schedule 21 to the 2011 Act (Mayoral development corporations) has effect as if—
(@) for each reference to—

(i) “the Mayor” there were substituted “the Combined County Authority”, except for the
reference in paragraph 1(1);

(if) “the Mayor’s” there were substituted “the Combined County Authority’s”;
(b) for each reference to “an MDC” there were substituted “the Corporation”;
(c) inparagraph 1(1)—

(i) for “A Mayoral development corporation (“MDC”)” there were substituted “A
Corporation”;

(ii) for the reference to “the Mayor of London (“the Mayor”)” there were substituted
“the Combined County Authority”;

(d) in paragraph 1(2) for “each relevant London council” there were substituted “each
relevant district council”;

Page 50



(e) inparagraph 1(3)—
(i) sub-paragraph (a) were omitted; and

(ii) in sub-paragraph (b) for “a London council” there were substituted “a district
council”;

(f) in paragraph 1(5), for “an MDC” there were substituted “A Corporation” and for
“MDC’s” there were substituted “Corporation’s”;

(g) in paragraph 2(5)(d) for “a relevant London council” there were substituted “a relevant
district council”;

(h) in paragraph 3—
(i) for “an MDC” there were substituted “a Corporation”;

(if) for “An MDC’s” in each place in which it occurs there were substituted “A
Corporation’s”; and

(iii) for the “the MDC’s” there were substituted “the Corporation’s”.

(i) in paragraph 4(4) for “the London Assembly” there were substituted “the Combined
County Authority”;

(5) in paragraph 9(c) for “each relevant London council” there were substituted “each
relevant district council”; and

(k) in paragraph 10(1)(c) the reference to “and to the London Assembly” were omitted.

SCHEDULE 4 Regulation 20(4)
Permit schemes: modification of the application of Part 3 of the Traffic
Management Act 2004

1.—(2) Part 3 of the 2004 Act is modified as follows.

(2) Section 33A (implementation of permit schemes of strategic highways companies and local
highway authorities in England) has effect as if—

(a) subsection (1) were omitted;
(b) for subsection (2) there were substituted—

“(2) A permit scheme prepared in accordance with section 33(1) or (2) by the Combined
County Authority does not have effect in the Area unless the Combined County Authority
gives effect to it by order.”;

(c) subsection (3) were omitted.

(3) Section 36 (variation and revocation of permit schemes) has effect as if, for subsections (1)
to (3) there were substituted—

“(1) The Combined County Authority may by order vary or revoke a permit scheme to
the extent that it has effect in the Area by virtue of an order made by the Combined County
Authority under section 33A(2).

(2) The Secretary of State may direct the Combined County Authority to vary or revoke a
permit scheme by an order under subsection (1).

(3) An order made by the Combined County Authority under subsection (1) may vary or
revoke an order made by the Combined County Authority under section 33A(2), or an order
previously made by the Combined County Authority under subsection (1).”.

(4) Section 39 (interpretation of Part 3) has effect as if, in subsection (1), after the definition of
“the appropriate national authority”, there were inserted—

““the Area” means the area of the Combined County Authority;

Pagg 51



“the Combined County Authority” means the East Midlands Combined County
Authority;”.

EXPLANATORY NOTE
(This note is not part of the Regulations)

These Regulations establish the East Midlands Combined County Authority (“the Combined
County Authority”), and provide for the conferral of functions of local authorities and other public
authorities on the Combined County Authority.

Part 2 of the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023 (c. 55) (“the 2023 Act”) provides for the
establishment of combined county authorities for the areas of two or more local authorities in
England. Combined county authorities are bodies corporate which may be given power to exercise
specified functions in their area.

The Secretary of State may establish a combined county authority for an area where a proposal for
such an authority has been submitted under section 45 of the 2023 Act. These Regulations have
been made following the publication of such a proposal in March 2023 by the constituent councils
whose areas together make up the combined area of the new authority. The proposal is available
at: https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s145908/Appendix%201%20-
%20East%20Midlands%20CCA%20Proposal.pdf.

Part 2 of these Regulations establishes the new Combined County Authority, and makes provision
for its constitution (in Schedule 1).

Part 3 of these Regulations provides for the election of a Mayor and for the appointment of a
political advisor to the Mayor.

Part 4 of these Regulations confers on the Combined County Authority functions in relation to
housing and regeneration which are to be exercised concurrently with the Homes and
Communities Agency. It also makes provision about the acquisition and appropriation of land for
planning and public purposes and sets out conditions on the exercise of various functions.
Regulation 10 and Schedule 2 apply and modify relevant provisions in legislation.

Part 5 of these Regulations confers on the Combined County Authority functions corresponding to
those of the Mayor of London in relation to the designation of a Mayoral development area.
Schedule 3 to these Regulations modifies Part 8 of and Schedule 21 to the Localism Act 2011 (c.
20) which make provision about the establishment of a Mayoral development corporation, its
objects and powers as well as its constitution and governance.

Part 6 of these Regulations confers on the Combined County Authority functions relating to
transport. It transfers functions relating to local transport planning and public transport from the
local authorities to the Combined County Authority and makes provision for specified highways
and traffic powers held by the local authorities to be exercised concurrently by the Combined
County Authority. It confers powers for the Mayor to pay grants, including to bus service
operators. It also makes incidental provision.

Part 7 of these Regulations provides for the conferral of certain public health functions of local
authorities on the Combined County Authority, which are exercisable concurrently with the
constituent councils (see regulation 2). The Combined County Authority has a duty to make steps
for improving the health of the people in its area. The Combined County Authority is considered a
NHS body in certain circumstances; may enter into partnership with an NHS body; and must have
due regard to the NHS Constitution.

Part 8 of these Regulations sets out the functions of the Combined County Authority which are to
be only exercisable by the Mayor and makes provision in relation to Joint Committees.

Part 9 of these Regulations makes provision for the funding, by the constituent councils, of those
costs of the Combined County Authority that relate to the exercise of its functions. Regulation 31
provides that the Combined County Authority is to have in relation to its area functions
corresponding to the functions that the Greater London Authority has under the Business Rate

Page 52



Supplements Act 2009 (c. 7) to levy a supplement on business rates to raise money for expenditure
on a project which will promote economic development in its area.

Part 10 of these Regulations confers additional functions to be exercisable by the Combined
County Authority concurrently with the constituent councils, including functions relating to
economic assessments and data sharing.

A full regulatory impact assessment has not been prepared as this instrument will have no impact
on the costs of the business and voluntary sectors.

Pagm 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix — Differences to note between powers listed in proposal and the draft East

Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023

As set out in the main report, there are some differences between the powers listed as proposed
to be transferred to either the EMCCA or the Mayor in the Proposal, and the powers as reflected
in the Statutory Instrument. The changes are generally minor, although there are relatively
numerous changes to the timing and sequencing of transport powers. These are listed below for

clarity.

Transport

1. As aresult of a change of position on some points by the DfT, there are a number of changes
to the provisions in the powers table in relation to concurrency and consent. There is also a
change in the specific powers identified in the Regulations in relation to the workplace parking
levy:

a.

Powers under Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000

The powers table specified that a number of powers within the 2000 Act would be
concurrent and continuing whilst others would be concurrent within the transition period
or the transition period and for an extended period to 2027. Under the Regulations, there
have been the following changes? in respect of concurrency:

- S113C-123, 123A-123X, 124-134B, 142-143B and s152-162 (various provisions
relating to bus services) are concurrent for the transition period where they were not
to be concurrent under the powers table. This means that the Constituent Councils
will be able to exercise these powers until such time as they are transferred to the
EMCCA under the transition plan.

- S138A-138S (relating to enhanced partnership plans) are concurrent for the transition
period only where they were proposed under the powers table to be concurrent for the
duration of the transition period and for an extended period to 2027. This means that
the Constituent Councils will have a more limited time during which they can exercise
these powers prior to the transfer to the EMCCA.

- S163-177 (road user charging) are no longer concurrent and continuing. Instead.
Chapters 2 and 3 of Part 3 (sections 178-200 relating to the workplace parking levy,
general and supplementary powers) are concurrent and continuing. This is because
powers under s163-177 (Chapter 1 of Part 3) are provided for directly in amendments
made in the Act.

The powers table also specified powers that should only be exercised with consent.
Specifically, it provided that for powers relating to local transport plans (sections 108,109
and 112), consent of the Constituent Councils would be required until the end of the
transition period. This has changed under the Regulations so that consent is not required
but the exercise of powers under sections 108-113 require a unanimous vote during the
transition period. In practice, this has the same implications as a consenting requirement.

Additionally, the powers table specified that powers under s163-190 (road user charging
and workplace parking levy) would require consent under the act. As s163-177 are
provided for under the Act directly, these are not subject to consenting arrangements.
Importantly, the power for the EMCCA to make a charging scheme under s163(3)(bb) is
a power to make it “jointly” with one or more local traffic authorities. As such, the EMCCA
will not be able to make a charging scheme absent the agreement of the relevant
Constituent Council.

! Note the following identified in the powers table which remain consistent:

s134C-134G and 135 — 138 are concurrent and continuing, consistent with the powers table.
S139 to 141A are concurrent for the transition period which is consistent with the powers table

S145 to 150 has been replaced with 145A, 146, and 148 to 150 as concurrent and continuing. This is consistent with
the powers table as s145 has been revoked.

Page 55



b. Powers under Part 4 of the Transport Act 1985
The powers table specified that a number of powers under Part 4 of the 1985 Act would
be concurrent and continuing or concurrent for the length of the transition period. Under
the regulations, there have been the following changes? in respect of concurrency:

- Powers under s57-62 (passenger transport areas), 85-87 (provisions relating to the
creation of passenger transport executives) will be concurrent for the duration of the
transition period whilst they were not concurrent in the powers table. This means that
the Constituent Councils will be able to exercise these powers until such time as they
are transferred to the EMCCA under the transition plan.

- Powers under s80-83 and 84 (duties of passenger transport areas, provisions relating
to bus stations, and compensation for loss of employment)) will be concurrent for the
duration of the transition period whilst they were proposed as concurrent and
continuing within the powers table. This means that the Constituent Councils will have
a limited time during which they can exercise these powers prior to the transfer to the
EMCCA

c. Powers under Part 5 of the Transport Act 1985

The powers table specified that a number of powers under Part 5 of the 1985 Act would

be concurrent and continuing or concurrent for the length of the transition period. Under

the regulations, there have been the following changes? in respect of concurrency

- Powers under sections 103-104 (relating to travel concessions) will be concurrent for
the duration of the transition period whilst they were not concurrent in the powers
table. This means that the Constituent Councils will be able to exercise these powers
until such time as they are transferred to the EMCCA under the transition plan.

- Powers under sections 107-109 are identified as concurrent and continuing within the
powers table and are not concurrent and continuing in the Regulations. This does not
raise concerns as s107 and s109 (in England and Wales) have been repealed and
s108 relates to grants for establishment of rural passenger services in Wales and
Scotland which is not applicable either for the Constituent Councils or the EMCCA.

Other technical amendments

2. As a result of a change of position on some points by DLUHC there are a small number of
technical changes from the provisions in the powers table.

3. The powers table specified that the consent of the local planning authority affected would be
required to exercise by the EMCCA of any of the powers in sections 226, 227, 229, 230(1)(a),
232, 233, 236, 238, 239 and 241. In fact, LPA consent is only required to exercise of the
compulsory purchase provision in section 226. The other provisions deal predominantly with
other dealings in land (i.e. acquisition in the open market, disposal of land, development of
land) rather than with planning functions and so it is not necessary for the LPA to consent to
the other provisions.

4. The powers table indicated that it would be the EMCCA which had the compulsory purchase
power in section 9(2) of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, but in fact this is prescribed
in the Regulations as a mayoral power. The Regulations provide that as well as the LPA for
the area being required to consent to exercise of the power by the Mayor, the Lead Member
for the Constituent Council in whose area the compulsory purchase is to take place will also
need to consent providing protection for the Constituent Councils. In addition, the EMCCA itself
also retains (as referenced above) the compulsory purchase power under section 226 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 Note that S63-64, 65-71 and 72-79 are concurrent and continuing, consistent with the powers table
3 Note that s88-92, 93-101, 105,106 and 106A are concurrent and continuing, consistent with the powers table

Page\f@rortb\LEGAL\MARKDA\43044401_1.docx-3/12/20



5. Likewise, the compulsory purchase power in section 17(3) of the Housing Act 1985 are
prescribed in the Regulations as Mayoral rather than EMCCA powers, with the same inbuilt
safeguards.

6. In relation to public health, the power under section 6C of the NHS Act 2006 for the Secretary
of State to make Regulations about health which apply to the EMCCA which was set out in the
powers table is not applied to the EMCCA under the Regulations. This was following
discussion with the Department for Health and Social Care and DLUHC where they explained
that the Secretary of State could use equivalent provisions within the Levelling Up and
Regeneration Act 2023 if necessary.

7. In addition, a number of powers which have been included in the East Midlands Combined
County Authority Regulations 2023 were not specifically referenced in the powers table. These
include the power under section 88 of the Local Government Act 1985 (the power to research
and collect information), and section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the power make a
grant for any purpose) (which was included in the transport section, but in fact is a more general
grant making power).

Page:RPortb\LEGAL\MARKDA\43044401_1.docx-3/12/20



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Consent to the East Midlands Combined County Authority Regulations 2023
	EMCCA Appendix 1
	EMCCA Appendix 2


